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[110] any part black in District 7.

So if we will zoom in briefly into Jefferson County,
based on your opinions about the 2021 map that was
enacted, does it appear that this map —

MR. ROSS: Your Honor?
JUDGE MARCUS: Yes, Mr. Ross?

MR. ROSS: Outside the scope of her opin-
ions in the state of her earlier testimony on direct.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. LaCour?

MR. LACOUR: Your Honor, we think this is
quite important to see if her views are consistent and
tell whether she views the enacted map to be a racial
gerrymander because it does not elect more than one
Democrat or if she would have similar views about any
map that splits counties in similar ways.
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JUDGE MARCUS: I didn’t mean to cut you
off, Mr. LaCour.

MR. LACOUR: I think it goes to credibility
and also the constitutionality of the map that we have
enacted.

JUDGE MARCUS: The objection is over-
ruled. You may proceed with your question.

MR. LACOUR: Thank you.

JUDGE MARCUS: State it again just so the
record is clear. I think it fairly goes to test this wit-
ness’s expertise in the field that she’s testifying about.
You may proceed, but [111] if you would put the ques-
tion again clearly to Dr. Davis again.

MR. LACOUR: Yes, Your Honor.
BY MR. LACOUR:

Q So, Dr. Davis, let’s start with District 7. In par-
ticular, where District 7 enters Jefferson County, does
this bear some resemblance to enacted District 7 in
your view?

A Does this what?

Q Would this version of District 7 bear some re-
semblance to the enacted version of District 77

A Yes. Yes.

Q And does it also appear to include a large per-
centage of Jefferson County’s black population within
District 7 and leave other members — other black
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Alabamians in Jefferson County in District 6 in a
similar way that you have identified for the enacted
version?

A  Yes.
Q Of District 7?
A  Yes.

Q Okay. And then I want to scroll down a little to
another county split. Looking here at District 2. You
see it ventures down into Mobile County and appears
to pick up a good portion of the city of Mobile.

In your view, would that be suggestive of racial
gerrymandering?

A T’d have to see the stats for this District 2. But,
[112] again, going back to Jefferson County, it pretty
much does the same thing and also takes part of Tus-
caloosa County, which is black, the city, and I mean, it
does the very same thing that the enacted plan does.

And going to Montgomery County, where under
the whole county plan, Montgomery stays intact. It —
again, it’s an effort to pull and concentrate black voters
in the Second and then in the Seventh. It’s an outcome-
based plan. There’s no question. And I am not as both
my experience and my research tell me is not the best
idea. I don’t — I am not interested in outcomes. I'm in-
terested in process.

Q Okay. Then I will quickly run through a couple
other plans with similar questions. Stop sharing this
for the moment.
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And let me find this other exhibit. Next we have
Caster Exhibit 23. This is a different plan also submit-
ted by the Caster plaintiffs.

Similar question: It looks somewhat similar to the
illustrative plan 1 that you were just talking about,
correct?

A Exactly.
MR. ROSS: Your Honor, if I — I realize.

JUDGE MARCUS: I'm sorry. I'm trouble
hearing you, Mr. Ross. I'm sorry.

MR. ROSS: Your Honor, I was just raising
the same objection that this is outside the scope, and
to the extent it [113] goes to her credibility, I under-
stand, but she has no basis for testifying about the
Cooper maps or any of the other maps except the whole
county plan.

JUDGE MARCUS: You may ask the ques-
tion, but let’s move along on this, Mr. LaCour.

MR. LACOUR: Absolutely.

JUDGE MARCUS: 1 take it the witness has
not before this moment had a chance to review these.
You might ask her that.

MR. LACOUR: Yes, Your Honor.
BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Dr. Davis, have you had a chance to review
either of the illustrative plan 1 that I showed you a
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moment ago or illustrative plan 2 that we’re looking at
right now?

A No, I have not.

JUDGE MARCUS: So you want to ask her a
question just about how it looks; is that correct, Mr.
LaCour?

MR. LACOUR: Basically, Your Honor, to the
extent that I think the look of the 2021 map has fea-
tured heavily — it’s a racial gerrymander.

JUDGE MARCUS: You may get right at it if
you would like. Just ask the question directly.

MR. LACOUR: Thank you, Your Honor.
BY MR. LACOUR:

Q So, Dr. Davis, if you look here, we have a couple
of

& & *

[227] of these redistricting guidelines does not affect
your analysis?

A Well, different constraints will not affect the
analysis possibly. You don’t know until you do it, right?
So there is, you know, you provide a set of inputs, and
then the algorithm will give you based on those inputs.
And if you are asking like what would happen if I
changed the inputs, like I don’t know because I haven’t
done that. All I can tell you is that given the inputs
that I provided in my report, this is the results that I
got.
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Q Dr. Imai, let’s move on to j(v).
A Okay.

Q And this criteria says, the Legislature shall try
to preserve the cores of existing districts, right?

A Right.

Q And did you observe this criteria in your sim-
ulations?

A Yes. As I mentioned, I did incorporate this par-
ticular guideline.

Q So you did not consider this; is that right?
A That’s correct.
Q Why not?

A Yeah. So as I explained, for the purpose of the
analysis, okay, so this is like my — the goal — I'm trying
to analyze whether or not race played a role in creating
the districts under the enacted plan.

[228] In order to do that, I need to isolate other
factors. So I need to isolate, you know, I want to just
look at how the race played a role. So I need to isolate
other factors.

If T impose this constraint, all the factors that
went into the previous plan is going to be carried over,
and it’s going to affect my analysis. As a result, I will
not be able to isolate the role the race played in, you
know, in drawing the district boundaries under the en-
acted plan.
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Q Dr. Imai?

A That’s why — I haven’t analyzed the previous
plans, so I have no knowledge of what factors went in
there.

Q So, Dr. Imai, is it right that if your methodol-
ogy considered what the previous plans looked like, the
cores of existing districts, that you would not be able to
tell what was caused as a result of those existing dis-
tricts and as a result of race?

A I would have a difficult time isolating the role
of the race if I put this constraint.

As I said, many factors may have gone into the
previous plan, which I haven’t analyzed. And so that
will — you know, I will inherit all of that into my anal-
ysis, which basically, you know, basically reduces — get
rid of the whole advantage of simulation analysis is the
power to isolate these different factors, so that’s why I
didn’t do this.

Q Dr. Imai, would it be possible to set a limiting
[229] constraint so that your simulations preserves 80
percent of the cores of previous districts?

A Yeah. I could —I could do that. I could incorpo-
rate that constraint, add that to my simulation algo-
rithm, yes.

Q But that’s not something that you have done?
A No.
Q Here?
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A No. If someone provides — if someone wants to
incorporate the specific definition of core, then, yes, the
algorithm can handle that.

Q And so instead, though, your algorithm starts
from a blank slate; is that fair?

A Yes. That’s — blank slate meaning like, yeah,
from scratch.

Q Right. Right.

A Yeah. But if I may add one thing. Is that okay?
Or is that. ..

Q Sure.

A So even though I started from the blank slate
in my one-MMD analysis, in my testimony, I men-
tioned that it was remarkable to see that one MMD,
you know, overlaps in a great deal with District 7 on
the enacted plan, which I assume that also means that
overlaps significantly with the District 7 on the previ-
ous plan. So even though I didn’t tell the algorithm
where to create the MMD, when I told the algorithm to
get one [230] MMD, it went there, and in the key dif-
ference was the Montgomery.

Q So, Dr.Imai, doesn’t ignoring some of these fac-
tors, cores of districts, communities of interest, et
cetera, doesn’t that guarantee that your simulated
plans may not capture a true representative sample?

A So the captures — I have a mathematical theo-
rem that says it captures — you present a plan under
the set of criteria that I specified. If you change the set
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of criteria, then, you know, the population of the plans
are changed so no longer my sample is guaranteed to
be representative of that new population, if that makes
sense.

So the representativeness is all relative to what
factors are used for the simulation.

Q Thank you, Dr. Imai. I am going to take these
guidelines down.

And then, Dr. Imai, I am going to direct your at-
tention to page 9 of your report.

A OkKkay.
Q Milligan Exhibit 1, M-1.

You say in paragraph 26 that you show, quote, the
way in which the enacted plan deviates from the sim-
ulated plan implies that race was a predominant factor
in drawing the district boundaries of the enacted plan.
Did I read that correctly?

A Yes.
[231] Q What do you mean by implies, Dr. Imai?
A Presents empirical evidence for that.

Q Okay. And, Dr. Imai, this conclusion would ap-
ply not only to the enacted plan, right, but any compar-
ison plan that was compared to your simulations?

A Idon’t want to say that because it depends on
the purpose of the analysis if that — I guess I'm not un-
derstanding exactly what you're trying to ask. Sorry.
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Q So let’s say an enacted plan that’s different
than the plan that actually is enacted, and you still did
the comparison. You did the comparison exactly the
same. Wouldn’t your conclusions apply to that plan, as
well?

A I -1 feel uncomfortable speculating that be-
cause like on this, I have a plan in front of me. It’s re-
ally hard for me to know whether, you know, I don’t
want to sort of draw conclusion about something like a
hypothetical. I feel uncomfortable doing that.

Q Let me back up. I think I have asked a poor
question.

A Yeah.

Q So what you conclude or what you present
here is that if a plan deviates from your simulated
plans, that implies race was a predominant factor; is
that right?

A In this particular setting. In this particular,
you know, my analysis setting. I just feel uncomforta-
ble speculating if there is another plan that looks very
different, how do I, you

& & &

[268] Q It’s not that it is impossible to split the
Black Belt, it’s just discouraged?

A Right. Try to reduce the number of splits,
right. So fewer splits of those communities as possible.

Q But?
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A But if you have to split, you have to split be-
cause the population constraint, you know, is 50 per-
cent. You don’t want to create the district who has
fewer population than the, you know, the range that I
specify.

Q And soin order to include Mobile and Baldwin
County in a district, it appears it’s necessary to split
the Black Belt, right?

A That’s correct. Yeah. If necessary to split those
four, of five, I guess if you reached it.

Q Is that also the case for these southeastern
counties that aren’t included in your definition of the
Black Belt but are isolated as a result of that defini-
tion?

A So, yes, those are also — yeah. So those are not
part of the definition I was given. And, yeah, those are,
you know, have to be —have to go somewhere. And often
I think the, you know, the District 2 under the — under
the simulated plan.

Q Dr. Imai, I just have a few more questions.

So between your initial and rebuttal reports, you
generated a total of 30,000 simulated plans, right?

A That’s correct.

[269] Q And of those 30,000 simulated plans,
20,000 of them included an MMD by design, right?

A That’s right. One MMD by design.
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Q How many of your 30,000 simulated plans in-
cluded two MMDs?

A None. Because I didn’t tell the algorithm to
create a second MMD.

Q Dr. Imai, if none of your 30,000 simulated
plans included two MMDs, wouldn’t that indicate that
race predominated in a comparison plan that did in-
clude two MMDs?

MS. EBENSTEIN: I'm sorry. Objection.

If I am understanding the question correctly, it’s
outside the scope of the one MMDs that Dr. Imai just
testified he simulated.

JUDGE MARCUS: I am not sure I under-
stand the question. So let’s begin by having you re-
phrase it, Mr. Smith, and then we will see whether it’s
objectionable or not.

MR. SMITH: Sure, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: 1 don’t understand the
question as you put it.

MR. SMITH: Sure. I will reframe.
BY MR. SMITH:

Q Dr. Imai, none of your 30,000 simulated plans
included two MMDs, right?

A That’s correct.



App. 306

Q So then a plan that does include two MMDs
would be an [270] outlier, right?

MS. EBENSTEIN: Object — sorry.
JUDGE MARCUS: Do we have an objection?
MS. EBENSTEIN: I would object.

JUDGE MARCUS: There is an objection,
and it is sustained as to the form of the question.

MR. SMITH: Your Honor, may I have a mo-
ment to consult with my colleagues?

JUDGE MARCUS: You sure can.
MR. SMITH: Thank you.
Your Honor, I pass the witness.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Thank you.

We’re beyond — by my count, it’s about 5:37 Cen-
tral Standard Time.

Mr. Walker, I wasn’t sure whether you were plan-
ning to ask questions or not. I know Ms. Ebenstein is
planning to have some redirect.

Either way, it would be my intention to break at
this point unless you had really only a few. I will give
you whatever time you need, but we have gone beyond,
and it’s been a long day. So you tell me what your pleas-
ure is, and we will proceed.

MR. WALKER: Your Honor, I do not intend
to ask any questions.
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JUDGE MARCUS: Okay. So why don’t we
break at this

& & *

[272] CERTIFICATE

I certify that the foregoing is a correct transcript
from the record of proceedings in the above-entitled
matter.

/s/ Christina K. Decker 01-04-2022
Christina K. Decker, RMR, CRR Date
Federal Official Court Reporter
ACCR#: 255
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[476] Q And just to clarify, the American Com-
munity Survey data is administered and produced by
the U.S. Census Bureau, correct?

A Yes.

Q So what are your conclusions generally re-
garding the socioeconomic profile of blacks and whites
in Alabama?

A Well, whites outpace blacks in almost every
single category. I'm hard pressed to think of one where
there is not a disparity. And I outline that in my decla-
ration and have a set of charts in the exhibits, which
illustrate those disparities and is probably a little eas-
ier to get through, just looking at bar charts.

Q And those disparities across — span across ed-
ucation, income, and other metrics, as well; is that
right?

A Yes.
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Q Employment?

A Unemployment rates, just the whole nine
yards, really. It’s not — it’s sad in a way that the dispar-
ity is that pronounced.

Q Thank you.

MS. KHANNA: Mr. Cooper, I don’t have any
further questions at this time. Your Honor, I pass the
witness.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you. Mr. Davis?
MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MR. DAVIS:

[477] Q Hello, Mr. Cooper.
A Hello. Long time no see.

Q Mr. Cooper, if someone identifies as black in
filling out the census, your report does not tell us how
that person votes or consider how that person votes,
does it?

A No.

Q Areyou making any assumptions in your anal-
ysis about how that person votes, knowing nothing
about him or her except the color of the skin?

A 1 make no assumptions about voting. That’s
the job of the Gingles II and Gingles I1I expert.
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Q Is that true as well for someone who identifies
as white when filling out the census?

A That’s true. I cannot make any kind of state-
ment one way or the other about an individual voter,
no.

Q And then it would be also true for someone
who checks both black and white?

A For the — for the census form, that’s true. Of
course, we have the voter registration data, which is
limited to only one check, so, that’s why I'm confident
that all our districts are majority-black. Of the two
that are considered, majority-black.

Q Do you have any understanding, Mr. Cooper,
about whether Section 2 requires proportional repre-
sentation for minority populations?

[478] MS. KHANNA: Objection, Your Honor.
That calls for a legal conclusion.

JUDGE MARCUS: I will allow it insofar as
he’s telling us what may have shaped or motivated him
in drawing it. We will take it. Overruled.

THE WITNESS: Well, my understanding is
it does not require proportional representation.

BY MR. DAVIS:
Q Thank you.

A But I'm not a lawyer.
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Q If I understood you correctly, Mr. Cooper, you
said that when drawing illustrative plans for a Section
2 case, it is necessary to consider race. Was that your
testimony?

A Race in a Section 2 case is always in the back-
ground as it really is in most plans one would draw
anywhere in the country outside of litigation if you are
really following traditional redistricting principles.

Q You say following traditional principals re-
quires you to district on the basis of race?

A You have to make sure that what you are doing
is not diluting a subset of the population that is minor-
ity in terms of their voting strengths.

Q At some point in the process, but that doesn’t
mean you have to consider race when drafting a plan,
does it?

A Well, it’s a traditional redistricting principle,
so like [479] compactness or contiguity, you have to be
aware of it as you are drawing a plan.

Q Even if it’s necessary to consider race when
drawing an illustrative plan, that does not mean that
it’s okay to make race the most important factor,
though, does it?

A No. One should try to balance the various tra-
ditional redistricting principles as I believe I have
done.

Q You've drawn many plans in many different
jurisdictions, correct?
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A That is correct.

Q When you're drawing plans for a jurisdiction,
and I don’t mean in litigation, I mean you’re being
hired by a state or a county or school board or someone
to draw their plans, how often do you just start with a
blank slate with no consideration of how the districts
looked before?

A Almost never. I would always see what the so-
called benchmark plan, the previous plan looked like.

Q Do you most often adjust the benchmark plan
as necessary to come within appropriate population
deviation?

A Yes. I mean, I'm always looking at things that
need to be changed to comply with traditional redis-
tricting principles and, of course, that would definitely
include one person one vote.

Q Sure. Now, you said that you considered Ala-
bama’s districting guidelines, right?

[480] A 1did. I reviewed them.

Q And you say you complied with our traditional
districting criteria, correct?

A T believe so.
Q OkKkay.

A Criteria very general, so I think so.
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Q Sure. Does our guideline not — do our guide-
lines not include the traditional districting criteria of
preserving the core of districts?

A They do. And for the six plans I drew that in-
clude District 5 in north Alabama, they’re almost iden-
tical to the District 5 that was drawn by the state.
Because I'm also looking at other factors like the mi-
nority population and the reality that a second major-
ity-black district could be drawn, the so-called core
retention numbers on my plan might not match the
state’s. But that’s okay. That’s okay. I don’t think that’s
something to be concerned about.

Q Okay. Well, we do. So but our guidelines don’t
say preserve the core of District 5, does it? It says pre-
serve the core of existing districts?

A Right. But if you start with a plan that prima
facia may be violating the Voting Rights Acts, you are
going to change districts. And because of that, when I
set about to create a second majority-black district, it
was clear that I had to change other districts. It was
not possible just to do a de [481] minimus change. It
required, you know, significant changes to some of the
adjoining districts, and because Districts 2 and 7 basi-
cally line up with the rest of the districts in the state,
all the districts except for District 5 have to change.

Q Does your report express any opinion or your
supplemental report that Alabama’s plan violates the
Voting Rights Act?
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A Well,I am not a — I am not a lawyer or a judge,
so I can’t make that statement point blank. But I do
believe that second majority-black district can be cre-
ated while adhering to the traditional redistricting
principles. Once you take that concept into action,
you're going to change the neighboring districts. And
because five of the districts are neighboring, that
pretty much just leaves you with the only possibility of
protecting core retention in District 5.

Q Soisthat a no?
A No to what?

Q That your report does not include an opinion
that Alabama’s plan violates the Voting Rights Act?

A  Well, it shouldn’t because I'm not a — I'm not a
lawyer. I'm not a judge. I just drew a plan that demon-
strates that in my opinion you can get a second major-
ity-black district. And flowing from that would be
perhaps a judicial decision that would say the enacted
plan violates the Voting Rights Act.

Q Did you or did you not consider the traditional
districting criteria of preserving the core of districts
that [482] is in Alabama’s guidelines?

A 1 believe I did within the constraints of creat-
ing second majority-black districts. I didn’t radically
change where the districts are located. And I — except
in District 7, I did change District 5 in that particular
plan just to make the point that the state could have
drawn a more compact district. But beyond that, I have
done a pretty good job of keeping the general areas
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served by each district except for District 1 in the same
part of the state. You're looking at me like you’re ap-
palled.

Q Mr. Cooper I have to apologize. I will say this
to the Court, too. I am looking for the right — I promise
you — I'm trying to share my screen, and I'm making
sure that I get the right EF up. I am not meaning to
look any way.

A Oh. I thought you were looking at me in a —
Q No, no.

JUDGE MARCUS: You all like fine to me.
Let’s just proceed with the next question, please.

BY MR. DAVIS:

Q Mr. Cooper, how does this plan preserve the
core of existing districts? And this is your Illustrative
Plan 7.

A Well -
Q Exhibit C-61.

A That’s right. That’s one where I did change
District 5. I believe it’s a more compact district. It
keeps Huntsville [483] whole and does not put a voter
in Tuscaloosa in a district that’s almost in Chatta-
nooga. So it’s a different configuration. I'm not saying
it has to be this way. I just thought it would make the
point.
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You could draw District 5 as the state is drawn.
And in all the other plans, I basically have.

Q Mr. Cooper, did you observe traditional redis-
tricting principle of avoiding incumbent conflicts with
your peers in Alabama’s guidelines?

A 1did in Nlustrative Plan 5.

Q In your other six, you did not observe that tra-
ditional districting criteria, did you?

A However, I would point out those plans could
in all cases probably be modified such that the incum-
bent in district — in District 2 could be put in District
2 if not by way of a whole county, all of Coffee County,
which is really quite populace, certainly it could be
split, and the incumbent could be put in District 2.

Q Isittrue -

A There would be many options for that.
Q Isittrue -

A Iwant-

JUDGE MARCUS: dJust let him finish,
please. You may finish your answer, Mr. Cooper.

THE WITNESS: Oh. I just didn’t want to in-
troduce [484] more than six splits to any plan. So for
that reason, I didn’t, for example, split Coffee County
to put the incumbent in the District 2. But there would
be other variations. And there’s one on the table now
that does that. So I have protected all incumbents.
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BY MR. DAVIS:

Q Is it true that in six of your seven illustrative
plans, you do not avoid incumbent conflicts?

A In six of the seven? But in any of those, I could
have probably protected the incumbent and kept a
plan in place with two out of seven majority-black dis-
tricts. It might have required an extra county split,
though.

Q Have you ever lived in Alabama?
A No, I have not.

Q Have you spent any time speaking with Ala-
bama voters or election officials about what local com-
munities of interest may be?

A No. I mean, I have spoken with folks from Ala-
bama. But I have not spoken with election officials.

Q What makes you think that you are better able
than 140 legislators who live in Alabama and repre-
sent local districts — what makes you think you are in
a better position than them to balance traditional cri-
teria where they conflict?

MS. KHANNA: Objection, Your Honor. That
mischaracterizes his testimony. I don’t think he’s ever
said [485] he’s better able than the legislators.

JUDGE MARCUS: Iwill let him answer the
question. You may answer.
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THE WITNESS: I think in the final analy-
sis, even if this case is ruled in our favor, the Legisla-
ture will get the first opportunity to develop a remedial
plan, and more often than not, that’s what happens.
Sometimes it doesn’t happen. Like in say South Da-
kota, when ultimately the Legislature refused to cre-
ate a majority Native American district, so the judge
just finally had to order. But normally the Legislature
will have the opportunity to develop a plan.

In fact, in 2019, in Mississippi in the plan I refer-
enced earlier in my testimony, where I was a consult-
ant, and the plaintiffs’ expert in a lawsuit, Section 2
lawsuit that created a new state Senate district in the
Delta, initially the judge ordered my plan into place.
But then the Legislature came back and said, look, we
want to develop a plan. The judge allowed them do
that, and the court ordered plan in the end was a plan
developed by the Legislature. It included a majority-
black district, though.

BY MR. DAVIS:

Q Mr. Cooper, did I understand you correctly
when you said you kept the city of Mobile whole that
you split precincts in order to do so?

A Some precincts had to be split in order to get
to zero [486] population deviation.

Q Okay. Did you have to split precincts in order
to keep the city of Mobile whole?
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A In the configuration that you see in Illustra-
tive Plan 6 and 7, I believe I did have to do that in order
to meet one person one vote zero deviation.

Q Why couldn’t you have made that adjustment
somewhere else on the map?

A Well, perhaps I could have, but then that
would have introduced another county split. Yeah.
There are an infinity of plans out there one can draw.
These are just seven illustrative ones. So I am not say-
ing it couldn’t be done. I just haven’t produced such a
plan so far.

Q Why did you not produce any plans that kept
Mobile County whole?

A I think that more than likely if you keep Mo-
bile County whole it becomes a little problematic to
create two majority-black districts.

Q Does it make it impossible?

A Well, maybe not, but it would require a num-
ber of other county splits, I think.

Q Did you testify in direct, Mr. Cooper, that in
Florida, you have used the measurement of non-His-
panic black instead of any-part black?

A No. No. I just said that there may be some
places in
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[549] that Mr. Davis and Mr. Walker have a chance to
have a full day to get Bryan on. I only say that if you
spill over into tomorrow with Gingles I, II, and 111, 1
want to make sure that we have a chance for Bryan to
be heard. That won’t be a problem for you, Mr. Naifeh?

MR. NAIFEH: Idon’t believe so, Your Honor.
We expect that we will get through all of the Gingles
experts today. And Mr. Bryan, if we don’t get to him
today, he would still have all day tomorrow.

JUDGE MARCUS: So I take it, Mr. Davis,
Bryan is set up for either late today or all day tomor-
row starting in the morning?

MR. DAVIS: Yes, Your Honor. Whether we
begin today and finish tomorrow or whether we begin
tomorrow, we will be ready to go.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thanks very much, and
you may proceed, counsel, with your next Gingles wit-
ness.
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MR. NAIFEH: The Milligan plaintiffs would
like to call Dr. Moon Duchin.

MOON DUCHIN,

having been first duly sworn, was examined and testi-
fied as follows:

JUDGE MARCUS: Would you be kind
enough to state your name for the record.

THE WITNESS: Sure. My name is Moon
Duchin, and I am

& & *

[565] BY MR. NAIFEH:

Q Going back to the questions you were asked to
consider, were you able to develop any illustrative
plans demonstrating whether it’s possible to create
two majority-black districts in Alabama?

A Yes. My report includes plans that I called plan
A, B, C, and D.

Q And did you use any software to develop the
illustrative plans?

A 1did. I used software in a few ways. As a first
step, as an exploratory step, I used algorithms devel-
oped in my lab to create — to generate large numbers
of different possibilities that would show me if it was
possible to find two majority-black districts. And I
found that it was possible. My randomized algorithms
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found plans with two majority-black districts in liter-
ally thousands of different ways.

Convinced that that was possible, I then turned to
drawing by hand. And I would emphasize that the role
of the maps found by the exploratory algorithms was
just then inspiration. Seeing that it was possible and
with some of the ideas about how it was possible, I then
started with a blank slate and drew by hand.

I will say a little bit more about that. The hand
drawing was done first with the second software pack-
age developed in my lab. And here, let me mention that
all these software packages [566] are public, open
source, available for inspection by the public and by
counsel at any time.

So the second package is called Districtr. And in it
members of the public can draw their own plans. And
we use Districtr — I use Districtr to draw plans at the
level of VIDs or precincts. We haven’t talked about
those yet. But those are the units of census geography
that look a lot like the precincts that people vote in.

So the second stage was to draw at the VTD level.
And then finally, to balance population, I used finer
tools, and in particular, we have a number of Python
packages that we use to see the demographics down to
the block level, and to understand the properties of
plans.

Q And you mentioned Python. That is the — is
that a programming language?
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A Python is a common open source programming
language. And it permits many packages, such as what
are called Pandas for working with large data frames
and GeoPandas for working with Geo-spatial data. I
would say that Python is the language of choice in data
science.

Q Is Python frequently used in redistricting?
A I would say that it is.

Q You mentioned that when you hand drew
plans, you started from a blank slate. So just to clarify,
does that mean — did you — did you start from an exist-
ing plan?

[567] A No. Only used some of the concepts I had
seen in plans that were found by the exploratory algo-
rithms, but literally started with an empty map of the
state when drawing.

Q Okay. And what kind of data did you use to de-
velop the illustrative plans?

A Again, here, as in my research, by far the larg-
est data set is the one from the U.S. Census Bureau,
called the PL 94-171. That is block level demographic
data that the bureau was directed to compile specifi-
cally for redistricting purposes. That is the express
function of this data set.

In addition, there are number of other highly use-
ful Census Bureau products, such as their TIGER/Line
Shapefiles that give you the geographical units. Their
American Community Survey, which is an annual
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survey from which we extract information about Citi-
zen Voting Age Population and so on.

Q OkKkay. Are these the same types of data that
you would normally use to create a redistricting plan?

A Definitely.

Q And you mentioned census geography such as
census blocks. What are census blocks?

A OkKkay. So the census maintains a geographical
hierarchy of units, which has a central spine with six
levels. It starts at the nation, as you would expect, sub-
divides into states, from states to counties, within
counties the next unit is called census tracts. Those di-
vide into block groups which divide [568] into blocks.

So blocks are the smallest units of census geogra-
phy. They’re sometimes called the pixels of redistrict-
ing. They’re the littlest units that you can use as
building blocks. There are a great number of them. In
the 2010 census there were over 11 million census
blocks in the nation. They range in population from 0.
They’re a substantial number of census blocks 0 popu-
lation to typically a few hundred people, although
sometimes you will find census blocks with much
larger population, such as if there are group quarters
like prisons or dormitories. So that is a brief descrip-
tion, I hope, of census blocks.

Q And you also mentioned VT'Ds. Can you tell us
what a VTD is, what VTD stands for and what a VID
is?



App. 328

A Sure. There’s a redistricting data program, an
office within the Census Bureau, and they undertake
every 10 years to communicate with the states and col-
lect information on the boundaries of precincts, which
are, as we all probably know, units of election admin-
istration that are maintained typically at a local level.

And so the bureau collects this information and
compiles them into a product called VTDs. They say
that stands for voting district, but most people call
them voting tabulation districts, VI'Ds. And so you
should think of those as the Census Bureau’s version
of local election administration units. [569] That
makes them particularly useful for redistricting be-
cause since they’re in the census hierarchy, we can ac-
curately measure demographics, but they’re also well-
coordinated with local elections, local election admin-
istration.

Q And did you use beyond the information from
the Census Bureau, did you use any other information
or consult any other information when preparing the
illustrative plans in this case?

A 1did. And some other sources are listed in my
report. But in particular, I consulted the enacted plans
from the state, which I obtained from the state’s web
sites. I looked in particular at the congressional plan,
of course. But also, for example, at the school board of
education plan prepared by the state, enacted.

Q And did you consult the state’s redistricting
guidelines?



App. 329

A I did. I did consult the state’s redistricting
guidelines.

Q You mentioned the State Board of Education
plan. What did — why did you obtain information from
the State Board of Education plan?

A The board of education plan was of particular
interest to me because it’s an eight-district plan. We've
already heard that the congressional district plan has
seven districts. But the board of education plan has
two that are majority-black. So I was particularly in-
terested to see how the state would con instruct a sec-
ond majority-black district.

[670] Q And were there other features in the
State Board of Education plan that were relevant in
drawing the illustrative plans in this case?

A One of the things that you’ll notice across my
plans is the — having to do with Mobile County and
with the city of Mobile. And I was interested to see how
that would be handled in a second majority-black dis-
trict. And so I looked to the board of education for an
example.

Q Is it your regular practice to look at the redis-
tricting plans for other governmental bodies in deter-
mining how to draw an illustrative plan for a different
set of districts?

A Yes. Definitely. I would call that a standard
practice of mine.
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Q Okay. And you mentioned the Census Bureau’s
American Community Survey or ACS. What did you
use ACS data for?

A In this case, I only used ACS data to estimate
what’s called BCVAP or Black Citizens Voting Age Pop-
ulation as described in my report. I suppose I should
clarify. Not only Black Voting Age Population, but the
Citizens Voting Age Population of various groups.

Q Okay. How did you use the data and the infor-
mation that you mentioned to create the illustrative
plans?

A Well, as we discussed, my main question was
whether I could make plans that had two majority-
black districts while showing great respect for the
other additional districting [571] principles. And so the
main way that all this data was used was, in fact, many
of the redistricting principles touch on census and de-
mographic data. But in particular, I needed to make
sure that the districts I was creating would be over 50
percent black.

Q Okay. And just sort of mechanically, how do
you create a redistricting plan using census data?

A Well, as I described, when drawing, I started
out with the Districtr program, which lets you select a
paint brush like tool and start to color in the VI'Ds of
the state. You can also turn on a feature that captures
whole counties. And because county preservation is im-
portant, as I'm sure we’ll discuss, I tried to take whole
counties into a district whenever possible.
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So typically the way you complete a plan is by first
drawing with the largest units counties in this case,
getting to a place of very coarsely balanced population,
and then going to the next smaller units to tune and
balance. And so in this case, from counties, the next
units would be VTDs.

You can draw a very reasonably balanced plan, a
1 percent balanced plan at the VTD level. But since, as
I'm sure we’ll discuss, it’s the standard practice to bal-
ance congressional districts much more tightly. At the
last stage, you then break those VIDs down to blocks
in order to tune the population.

Is that what you had in mind?
Q Thank you. Yes. That’s helpful.
[572] A Okay.

Q And so you —is it fair to say that you drew your
illustrative plans at the census block level?

A In the end, yes. I found that it was necessary
to break some VTDs in order to balance the population.
And so I did so at the block level, yes.

Q Okay. And when you tune to the block level
and see VIDs and then tune the population of block
level, how do you decide where to split precincts?

A Right. So when splitting precincts — so, first, I
tried to keep as many counties whole as possible but
had to break some counties. And then when you decide
which precincts to split, those would typically be
within the already split counties.
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By far, the largest consideration when splitting
precincts is one of balancing the population. And so by
far, the primary consideration is the total population of
those blocks so that you can find just the right sizes to
balance the population.

Q And when splitting precincts to balance the
population and selecting blocks to balance the popula-
tion, do you ever decide where to split the precinct on
the basis of race?

A I would describe the priority order this way:
When you have to split a VTD looking to balance pop-
ulation, as I just said, by far, the first thing that I look
at is the total population of the blocks. After that, the
next consideration I [573] had was compactness, trying
to make kind of less eccentric and more regular bound-
aries between districts.

I — over the course of the many draft maps made,
I did sometimes look at race of those blocks, but really,
only to make sure that I was creating two districts over
50 percent. Beyond ensuring crossing that 50 percent
line, there was no further consideration of race in
choosing blocks within the split VT Ds.

Q Are you familiar with traditional redistricting
principles?

A Yes, I am.
Q And what are they?

A Okay. Well, there are many. But I would iden-
tify what I call a big six.
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So let me very briefly outline them. First is popu-
lation balance, or one person one vote. And we've dis-
cussed that already. That’s the idea that we should
balance total population across the districts in a plan.
The next and also a federal requirement is minority
electoral opportunity. And that’s through the lens of
the Voting Rights Act of 1965, as well as equal protec-
tion in the constitution.

So those are two nonnegotiable federal require-
ments.

Next, I might list two that are fairly easy to meas-
ure. And those — although not unambiguous, but still
readily quantifiable, and those are compactness and
contiguity. And [574] then we come to two that are a
little bit I would say harder to measure, but nonethe-
less very important. And that’s respect for political
boundaries. By that, we usually mean a priority on
keeping intact the counties, cities, and towns generally
the municipalities, of a state. And finally, respect for
communities of interest.

Q And did you consider those principles when
developing the illustrative plans?

A I certainly did.

Q Did you also consider the redistricting guide-
lines adopted by the state’s reapportionment commit-
tee?

A TIdid.
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MR. NAIFEH: And, Mr. Ang, can you please
pull up Milligan Exhibit 28? This is Document 88-23.

BY MR. NAIFEH:

Q The committee’s guidelines include additional
criteria beyond those you just mentioned?

A They do. And if we look at this, we can see the
whole first page concerns itself with population and
minority opportunity to elect and equal protection.
And then if we go on to the next page, that very next
on the list is contiguity and compactness, which I've
mentioned. At that point, this document gets to Ala-
bama state constitutional requirements, which repeat
some of the previously listed concepts, and cite, you
know, once again cite contiguity population balance,
[575] discuss the number of districts.

After that, we get to J, which within J, we intro-
duce other principles that are frequently discussed in
redistricting, such as consideration for incumbency.
This is where communities of interest are cited. And if
we advance to the next page, we will see in part (v) of
part j. mention of preservation of the cores of existing
districts.

I would note that in my reading of this, I noticed
in part G here that the criteria identified within j. are
stipulated not to be listed in priority order.

To me, the reading that I took from this, and I
think the reasonable reading is that the ones listed be-
fore part j. should be regarded to take precedence. And
so I did take this document quite seriously in listing
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the federal requirements first, followed by compact-
ness and contiguity with concepts like incumbency
consideration and core preservation clearly lower
ranked.

Q So in your understanding, the committee
guidelines create a higher hierarchy of certain princi-
ples over others?

A 1 think they do. And I think they do so in a
manner consistent with what I see in numerous other
states.

Q Thank you.

MR. NAIFEH: Thank you, Mr. Ang. We can
take this exhibit down.

BY MR. NAIFEH:

[576] Q Dr. Duchin, is it possible that different
traditional redistricting criteria might conflict with
one another?

A Yes. It’s not just possible, it’s common place.
The criteria are often intention. And to give just a few
examples of that, I think it’s clear from what I said a
moment ago that exact population balance requires
you to break up units and so its intention with respect-
ing political boundaries pretty clearly.

Another classic frequently observed example is
that compactness can be intention with communities
of interest. If you have a well-identified community
with important shared interests that itself is residen-
tially located in kind of elongated configuration, then
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you have a choice to make because keeping that com-
munity whole might come at a cost to compactness of
your district. That’s a frequently observed instance
among many where the principles can be in conflict.

Q In your experience, is it common to have to
make trade offs to — in observing different redistricting
principles?

A Absolutely. I would say — go so far as to say
that redistricting is all about those trade offs.

Q When you prepared the illustrative plans in
this case, did you use — sorry. I've got that covered.

Did you — are the illustrative plans you developed
the only potential plans for a seven-member congres-
sional district in Alabama?

[577] A Certainly not.

Q Are the illustrative plans that you developed
in this case the only potential plans for a seven-mem-
ber congressional redistricting plan in Alabama?

A They’re far from the only plans. Theyre far
from — as you heard me say before, far from the only
ones with two majority-black districts. I've seen thou-
sands of examples, and I know that overall, the uni-
verse of possibility in Alabama is in the many trillions
of trillions. So we’re talking about very large number
of possible plans over all.

Q And so just to follow up on that, if you had a
different set of redistricting — of priorities among the
redistricting principles, you could draw — you would
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draw a different plan that still contained two majority-
minority districts; is that right?

A That’s absolutely true. And so as you heard me
say a moment ago, after the — what I took to be nonne-
gotiable principles of population balance and seeking
two majority-black districts, after that, I took contigu-
ity as a requirement and compactness as paramount
following the guidelines.

It would be completely reasonable to take plans
like mine to take districts, something like my Districts
2 and 7, which then kind of forces District 1 to look
more or less as it does. But with the remaining four
districts, there’s quite a lot of latitude. You could adopt,
then, a priority on maintaining [578] district cores, and
easily produce a plan that performs better in that re-
gard, but you would do so at a cost particularly to com-
pactness.

So there are certainly trade offs. And I took the
reading of the guidelines to put a very high priority on
counties and compactness. But while retaining two
majority-black districts, many other choices could be
made.

Q And in seeking to draw two majority-minority
districts, was your goal to maximize the Black Voting
Age Population in those two districts?

A Certainly not. We've seen from the state that
it’s possible to have a substantially higher BVAP in a
district, and I can tell you that it’s possible, while
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having two districts to still have a substantially higher
BVAP in a district, that was simply not my goal.

Q And were there times in drawing the illustra-
tive plans when you made the decisions that had the
effect of reducing the Black Voting Age Population in
one of the minority-majority black districts in order to
satisfy other redistricting principles?

A Definitely. I took, for example, county integrity
to take precedence over the level of BVAP once that
level was past 50 percent.

MR. NAIFEH: Mr. Ang, can you please bring
up Exhibit M-3? This is Document 88-3, and turn to
page 7.

[579] Dr. Duchin — Mr. Ang, could you zoom in on
the table?

BY MR. NAIFEH:

Q Dr. Duchin, please take a look at Table 3,
which is labeled, Demographics Broken Out As a Com-
parison of Black and White Population.

A Yes.
Q What does this table show?

A This table shows the BVAP, the WVAP, BCVAP,
and WCVAP. In other words, the black and white
shares of Voting Age Population and Citizen Voting
Age Population by district in each plan.
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Q And in each plan, that includes in the enacted
plan HB-1?

A That’s right. HB-1, as well as my plans A
through D.

Q Okay. And turning down on the table labeled
BVAP at the top left, what does this table show?

A This shows that — as I said earlier, HB-1 has
one majority-black district, and then drops off to
around 30 percent while my plans A through D all have
two districts over 50 percent black.

Q And what definition of black is used to calcu-
late these percentages?

A Yes. So here still I'm using that expansive def-
inition that’s sometimes called any-part black.

Q And then looking over to the table at the top
right labeled BCVAP, what does this table show?

[580] A So this is the black share of Citizen Vot-
ing Age Population. I will note that sometimes in vot-
ing rights enforcement, we look to Citizens VAP, CVAP,
because it’s taken to be a closer proxy to the electorate
because citizens are eligible to vote. And so here I look
at BCVAP and find that it — generally similar that HB-
1 still has only one majority-black district, and all four
of my plans by this way of counting still have two.

Q And in the BCVAP table, which definition of
black was used to calculate BCVAP?
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A So here I'll just say very briefly, I used the ACS
to calculate the citizenship share of adults for each ra-
cial group and then applied that to the any-part black
population.

Q So, again, using — it uses any-part black to es-
timate the citizenship share of each district?

A To be exactly precise, the share, the rate of cit-
izenship does not use any-part black because it’s done
from the ACS, which doesn’t have the ability to count
any-part black, so that citizenship rate is used with a
single-race black definition, and then is applied to the
any-part black map of the state.

Q Okay.

A This is described in detail in the appendix to
this report.

Q Okay. And using the any-part black category
for BVAP, are there two districts in each of your four
plans that contained

& & *

[596] M-28? This is again the redistricting guidelines
Document 88-23.

Mr. Ang, can you scroll down? I believe it’s the
third page. Back up one.

THE WITNESS: There we are.
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BY MR. NAIFEH:

Q It’s at the bottom of page 2. Is that the defini-
tion that you were referring to earlier?

A Yes. And so recognized similarities of interests,
including but not limited to ethnic, racial, economic,
tribal, social, geographic, or historical identities.

Exactly.

Q And it says there at the bottom that it can in-
clude?

A It can include in certain circumstances politi-
cal subdivisions, such as counties.

MR. NAIFEH: And can you go on to the next
page, Mr. Ang?

THE WITNESS: Great. Counties voting pre-
cincts, municipalities, tribal lands and reservations, or
school districts.

MR. NAIFEH: Thank you, Mr. Ang.
BY MR. NAIFEH:

Q And does — in your understanding, does the
community of interest principle mean that an entire
congressional district must form a single community of
interest?

[597] A No. And I think that’s sometimes a com-
mon misunderstanding. I don’t think that respect for
communities of interest means that every district
should itself be a single unitary community. That



App. 342

wouldn’t work because communities can be of all sizes
and are not necessarily the exact size of congressional
districts, which after all, are very large, over 700,000
people.

Instead, I believe that what it means is that com-
munities should be taken into account when you draw
so that either they’re kept whole within a district, or if
it’s appropriate, split among several in a way that am-
plifies their opportunity to be heard by their repre-
sentative.

Q So,in other words, there may be more than one
community of interest in a given congressional dis-
trict?

A There certainly will, without fail, be more than
one community of interest within a congressional dis-
trict.

Q And are the criteria for or the definition of
community of interest, is that an objective definition?

A Well, as it’s written in law or in guidelines like
these, it’s, of course, somewhat vague. There have been
efforts to try to make it more concrete and more quan-
tifiable, that usually start with a public collection pro-
cess, as I mentioned a little earlier.

Q Sowhen you are serving the public about their
communities of interest, is it possible that different
people might [598] identify with different communities
of interest?
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A It is a certainty. When you ask people about
their communities, the nature of community is that
you will get many different kinds of account. Some of
them will be continent and will allow you to create a
kind of small consensus so that you have a community
supported by the testimony of many people.

But inevitably, on even more than what some of
the other principles, there are trade offs, because com-
munities can and will overlap. So sometimes it’s im-
possible to preserve one without breaking another. So
even within this principle, there are trade offs to con-
sider.

Q When developing your illustrative plans in
this case, what communities of interest did you con-
sider?

A So the two communities of interest that I pri-
oritized are the two that I mentioned earlier, which are
urban cores and the 18 counties that constitute the ru-
ral Black Belt.

I will mention that I am aware that there are
many, many other important and salient communities
in Alabama, and I prioritized these two that I believe
to clearly and unambiguously correspond to the lan-
guage in the guidelines.

Q And in your opinion, do the illustrative plans
respect communities of interest?

A Yes. My plans A through D are designed to do
so. And one way that they do so is by taking upwards
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of 16 out of the 18 Black Belt counties in each case and
keeping those in [599] majority-black districts.

Q And you mentioned also that municipalities or
counties or other political subdivisions can also consti-
tute a community of interest. Did — in your opinion, do
the illustrative plans respect those communities of in-
terest?

A They do. There’s a marked respect not only for
counties, which I think is unmistakable in the plans,
but also for municipalities.

And I will note there that because the technical
boundaries of municipalities can be very erratic, that
on a community level, it’s often that urban core that’s
most salient from a community.

Q You also testified the guidelines — the redis-
tricting committee’s guidelines include as an addi-
tional criteria the cores of prior districts?

A Yes.

Q What does preserving the cores of prior dis-
tricts mean?

A Informally, it means that new districts should
resemble the previous districts. Often, that’s measured
in one of two ways; by looking at the area overlap or
the territorial overlap between a new district and its
corresponding its counterpart in the older plan, or by
looking at the population that’s either retained or dis-
placed.
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Q And do the illustrative plans preserve the
cores of prior districts?

[600] A No. I would characterize my Illustrative
Plans A through D as not particularly preserving the
cores of the prior districts.

Q And why is that?

A Tjudge it to be impossible to have as high of a
core preservation as, for instance, you see in the newly
enacted plans, while also having two majority-black
districts. Just to expand on that briefly, since the older
plan has one majority-black district, and then a signif-
icant drop off to, you know, about 30 percent, it’s again
mathematically impossible to create two majority-
black districts without a significant level of population
reassignment from one District to another. Because I
regard the protection of minority electoral opportunity
to be a nonnegotiable federal requirement, that neces-
sitates a significant level of core displacement.

Q Okay. And so that — and then in the outside of
those two majority-black districts, were there — can
you explain why your plans don’t preserve cores to the
extent it’s of the enacted plan?

A Yes. Absolutely.

So I read the guidelines to put core displacement
as a priority below compactness and the preservation
of counties, in particular compactness. And so I would
note that one could take my illustrative plans, retain
something very much like my [601] Districts 2 and 7
and therefore District 1, and with the remaining four
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districts, one could adopt a different prioritization. And
indeed if core preservation were elevated at that point,
it would be quite easy to reconfigure those four dis-
tricts to more resemble the previous enacted plan. I
will just note that you would be doing so expressly at
the cost of compactness.

Q So, in other words, you read the guidelines as
requiring compact districts more than core preserva-
tion, but if you read them the other way, you could pre-
serve cores to a greater extent than you did?

A I think it’s difficult to read them another way,
but if you elected to prioritize cores over compactness,
you certainly could do so, and that would greatly im-
prove those displacement numbers in my plan while
maintaining two majority-black districts.

Q And you also testified earlier that protecting
minority voting strength is a traditional redistricting
criteria. What does it mean to protect minority voting
strength for avoid dilution of minority voting strength?

A Well, in the context of Gingles I demonstration,
it means to draw districts that have a majority of — in
this case, Black Voting Age Population while still being
maximally respectful to the other traditional princi-
ples. In other words, in other words, what’s at issue
here is the opportunity [602] to elect candidates of
choice.

Q And what do the illustrative plans do to una-
ble that opportunity?
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A Well, in particular, here they pass the thresh-
old of 50 percent plus 1, so they create two majority-
black districts in which I believe together with the ev-
idence of other experts we can see there will be a clear
opportunity to elect candidates of choice.

Q And so based on what you have told us so far
today, did you form an opinion as to whether the black
population in Alabama is sufficiently numerous and
geographically compact to comprise a majority of vot-
ing age population in two congressional districts?

A 1 did. As we heard, there were two majority-
black districts, and the plan as a whole is highly re-
spectful of other traditional districting principles, and
in particular, is highly compact. The compactness of
the plan is itself a demonstration that the population
is compact enough to do so.

Q And are the illustrative plans the only poten-
tial remedy for vote dilution in Alabama’s congres-
sional plan?

A They are far from the only possible remedy,
and I leave it to the Court to determine whether ma-
jority-black districts are necessary as a remedy. And
here, they’re clearly demonstrated to meet the Gingles
I requirement.

[603] MR. NAIFEH: Thank you, Dr. Duchin.
I have no more questions at this time.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. It looks to me
like this might be a convenient time for our break. I
have 10:35 your time in Alabama Central Standard
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and 11:35 in Eastern Standard Time. We’ll take a 15-
minute break.

I take it, Mr. LaCour, you are going to conduct the
bulk of the cross, or the cross for the Secretary of State?

MR. LACOUR: That’s correct, Your Honor.

MR. NAIFEH: Your Honor, actually, there
was one more issue I wanted to raise with Dr. Duchin.

JUDGE MARCUS: Sure. Let’s go back so
you can finish your direct, and then we’ll break. Fire
away.

MR. NAIFEH: Mr. Ang, can you please bring
up Exhibit 48, M-48, that’s Document 92-1? And I will
note for the Court and for the record that this is one of
the exhibits that defendants have objected to, and I
would like to lay the foundation for getting it admitted.

JUDGE MARCUS: Sure.
BY MR. NAIFEH:

Q Dr. Duchin, on the screen is the document that
has been marked as exhibit M-48.

MR. NAIFEH: Mr. Ang, could you scroll
through? I think it’s three pages.

BY MR. NAIFEH:

& & *

[644] weren’t worried about balancing the other fac-
tors?
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A Well, I think my best and fullest answer would
be that I do believe other prioritizations of criteria are
possible while retaining two majority-black districts.
And that in particular as I think I mentioned in direct,
if you kept something very much like my District 2 and
7 and, therefore, 1, you have a great deal of latitude
with the other four districts to reorder the priorities as
you might see fit.

Q But maybe with this particular configuration
of 2 and 7, you wouldn’t have latitude down to just six
splits in the counties; is that fair?

A Sorry.
Q I'm sorry. Go ahead.

A Thanks. That’s not something I'm prepared to
answer in a speculative fashion looking at the map.
But something I could certainly sit down with mapping
software and explore.

Q And TI'll just point you here. CD 7, this was
from your report, and we looked at these numbers ear-
lier. I am happy to go back if you want to double check
them. But I put down that it was 50.24 percent any-
part Black Voting Age Population, and if I think we
said that 1 percent of Voting Age Population of a typi-
cal district is about 5,600 people, so we're talking less
than 2,000 people would be your margin for CD 7, cor-
rect? So does that sound right?

A What exactly is the question? Is the question
about [645] removing 2,000 people?
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Q Ifyou removed — so if you removed 1,000 black
people of voting age from CD 7 and you replaced them
with 1,000 non-black people of voting age, that would
bring your number down below 50 percent, correct?

A 1 don’t think 1,000 would be enough from the
numbers you were quoting before. It sounded like
maybe a few thousand would, but, again, I'd want some
time to sit down and get those numbers just right.

Q Okay. In any event, the margins are at least —
the margins are somewhat slim for CD 7, fair enough?

A 1 think that the standard is 50 percent plus
one person. But 50.24 is certainly less than, say, 51 per-
cent.

Q Uh-huh. I will move on to plan C. Zoom out just
a little. Can you see that?

A Tcan.

Q Okay. And as with the other plans, the map on
the left comes from Milligan Exhibit 3 page 4. That’s
your initial report. The map on the right that corre-
sponds to it is from Tom Bryan’s supplemental report,
Defendants’ Exhibit 4 at page 73.

So here we've got District 2, and I think this comes
from page 8 of your report that shows that it is at 50.06
percent Black Voting Age Population, which by my
math, equates to about 350 people of voting age? Does
that sound sort of in the [646] ballpark?
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A Ithink you’re asking is it true that .06 percent
of the voting page population of a district is a few hun-
dred people?

Q Uh-huh.
A That sounds reasonable to me.

Q Okay. Great.

My question here — we have nine splits in this par-
ticular map. I wanted to first ask about the ones here
in the southwest corner of the map. What traditional
districting principles led you to draw that sliver
through Washington and Clarke counties?

A Well, I don’t specifically recall that decision
juncture, but I can imagine that one possibility might
have been the compactness of District 7.

Q Okay. What leads you to say that, just looking
at the map here?

A Well, again, if we’re looking at the Polsby-Pop-
per measure, or indeed at the Reock measure, in either
of those cases, the idealized shape is a circle.

Q Uh-huh.

A And I can see that this — it’s conceivable —
since you are asking me, I think, to speculate, it’s con-
ceivable that this decision was made in order to pro-
duce a somewhat rounder District 7.

Q Okay. And would another way to do that be to
sort of [647] borrow from that hydraulic analogy, move
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counterclockwise now to maybe pick up some of this
intrusion into Jefferson County, and then in the pro-
cess, make these counties whole?

A There are honestly innumerable choices that
you face that’s really only one of many conceivable
ways to balance the decision in a different manner.

Q Okay. And so there are numerous ways you
could have also potentially made either of these coun-
ties whole either as part of District 7 or as part of Dis-
trict 2, correct?

A That’s correct. And I think that you will find
some examples in the other illustrative plans.

Q Okay. And you think one reason that there are
nine splits in counties in this plan as opposed to six
splits in counties is because of your — the weight you
gave to — I apologize to flip around there — was because
of the weight you gave to the criteria of ensuring two
majority-black congressional districts?

A There’s no question. And I have consistently
acknowledged that I took minority electoral oppor-
tunity to be a nonnegotiable principle sought in these
plans.

I will mention here you’re also seeing in some of
these decisions a high priority on compactness and, of
course, on contiguity.

Q And we’ll get to that in a minute.

Turning next to plan B —
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[648] MR. NAIFEH: Before we move on to
plan B, I want to make sure that all of these demon-
stratives are being marked. So I think we had one for
plan B and one for plan C.

JUDGE MARCUS: Did you want to mark
this one B? This is plan B?

MR. NAIFEH: This is D. We also saw B and
C.

JUDGE MARCUS: So you are asking him to
mark B and C as well as D?

MR. NAIFEH: Yes, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Any objection to doing
that, Mr. LaCour? Because what you are showing is not
exactly the exhibit as it appears in Milligan 3. Plan C,
B, and A are what existed, except you typed in some
stuff at the top, right?

MR. LACOUR: Exactly. No objections, Your
Honor, for plan B.

JUDGE MARCUS: Why don’t we do this:
Why don’t we just mark your modifications to Duchin’s
plans B, C, and D as Defendants’ identification 3, 4, and
5? If I have the numbers right, I think that works.

MR. LACOUR: Yes, that’s exactly right.

JUDGE MARCUS: Does that work for you,
counsel?

MR. NAIFEH: Yes, Your Honor.
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JUDGE MARCUS: Allright. So the record is
clear, the exhibits being shown to Dr. Duchin by Mr.
LaCour are Illustrative Plans A, B, C, and D, which
have been modified to [649] typing at the top of the
page, county splits, and the percentage of APBVAP in
each of Districts 2 and 7. Is that right?

MR. NAIFEH: In addition, they have also
added a map from Defendants’ Exhibit 4.

JUDGE MARCUS: That’s on the other part
of it. The other part of the page includes a defendants’
exhibit from the report of the supplemental report of
Mr. Bryan. With that caveat, exhibits 3, 4, 5 — would it
be 3, 4, 5, and 6, Mr. LaCour, the four of them?

MR. LACOUR: 1 believe it’s 2 —

JUDGE MARCUS: We have already marked
— okay, so it’s 3, 4, and 5 are marked as defendants’ ex-
hibits for identification. You may proceed. Thank you.

MR. LACOUR: Great.
BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Dr. Duchin, we now come to plan D. Thank you
for your patience.

This is one that splits Jefferson County among
three different districts, correct?

A That’s correct.

Q Do you recall what percentage of Jefferson
County’s black residents ended up in your version of
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CD 7 and what percent were placed into CDs 4 and CD
6?

A 1 don’t think I ever calculated those percent-
ages

& & *

[660] Q@ Or that compactness is required by fed-
eral law or Alabama law?

A T can’t speak to whether it’s considered to be
part of Alabama law, not being an expert in Alabama
law.

Q Fair.

A But I am aware that it’s not considered to be
federal law.

Q Okay. Did you look at Alabama practice, either
in this past redistricting cycle or past decades to see
whether it looked like the Legislature has been giving
compactness that level of priority as opposed to core
retention?

A My principle means of learning about Ala-
bama practice was a study of the enacted plans from
2021 and from 10 years earlier in 2011. And as one of-
ten does, when trying to understand redistricting pri-
orities, I did infer some priorities and interpretations
from the properties of those plans.

Q And was respect for core retention one of the
guiding principles that you were able to infer from
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looking at the 2011 map as opposed — or when com-
pared to the 2021 map?

A Oh, I certainly agree that core retention seems
to have been highly prioritized in the creation of the
2021 plan.

Q Let’s see. Turning now to communities of in-
terest.

You referred this morning to the fact that there
has not been a sustained effort to map out or quantify
all the different communities of interest that might be
present in the [661] state of Alabama; is that correct?

A Oh, I think that goes farther than my state-
ment. I just said I wasn’t aware of a state effort, and
that I had checked the state’s redistricting website to
confirm that.

Q Did you look at past maps to see if you could
infer from them any communities of interest?

A Well, I think it would be quite difficult to read
backwards to reverse engineer, you might say, commu-
nities of interest from a map, particularly since, as I
said this morning, I don’t think that each district itself
constitutes a unitary community.

But I did get some ideas about splittings from the
state’s earlier plans, and as I mentioned, from the
state’s current board of education plan.

Q Did you get any ideas about — the opposite of
splittings — keepings together, if you will, from the past
maps?
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A Did I get any ideas about areas that were kept
together, sure. By observation I could see some areas
that hadn’t been split. I'm trying to stay with the spirit
of your question.

Q OkKkay. For example, how far back did you look
at past maps from — past congressional maps from Al-
abama?

A As I've testified, I focused on the last two, on
the maps from 2011 and 2021.

I have definitely reviewed some older maps, but
that would [662] be longer ago and farther from the
current process.

Q Okay. So you couldn’t say, for example, if two
gulf counties, Mobile and Baldwin, have been together
in the same district for half a century or not?

A I couldn’t. Not with a high degree of certainty.
But I'm willing to believe that that’s true at the con-
gressional level. It’s certainly the case that Mobile
County is split in the current State Board of Education
map, and that parts of Mobile, city and county, are con-
nected to parts of the Black Belt.

Q Iwill have a few questions for you about a map
in a moment. But returning to communities of interest.
You said in your report that it was possible to identify
several clear examples of communities of interest of
particular salients to black Alabamians.

Am I recounting your testimony from this morning
correctly that the two you focused on were preserving
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the cores of urban areas and preserving just the core
of the Black Belt?

A Iwould say —the way I described it is retaining
as much of the Black Belt as possible in majority-black
districts.

Q Okay. Now, the Black Belt counties with the
exception, perhaps, of Montgomery, do not contain
those large urban centers that you were referring to,
correct?

A That’s right. I would say Montgomery is the
clearest exception.

Q OkKkay. So did you take into account any other
communities [663] of interest?

A The only two kinds that I considered were the
two that you just cited.

Q OkKkay. And it’s possible there are communities
of interest that are relevant to white and black Ala-
bamians alike, correct?

A No question about that. In particular, I think
urban cores are relevant to black and white Alabami-
ans alike.

Q Were you able to infer from looking at the 2011
and 2021 maps how the Legislature has applied the
community of interest factor in the past?

A Well, as I've said —
MR. NAIFEH: Asked and answered.
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JUDGE MARCUS: 1 think it has been. Sus-
tained.

BY MR. LACOUR:

Q You know, could community of interest consid-
eration explain why Mobile and Baldwin counties were
kept together in 2021?

A Did you say could it or did it explain?
Q Could it?
A Could it. Certainly could.

Q Could a community of interest explain why the
Wiregrass counties were kept together in the 2021
map?

A It certainly could.

Q Okay. And similar question, could communi-
ties of interest considerations explain why Madison
and Morgan counties were [664] kept together in the
2021 -

MR. NAIFEH: Objection here to this line of
questioning. It’s calling for speculation.

JUDGE MARCUS: Okay to answer if she
can give it to us.

THE WITNESS: I'm willing to concede that
it could, but I was unable to find any systematic de-
scription of what communities were considered. I
would have indeed been very happy to find such a de-
scription.
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BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Could you describe the nature of your inquiry
into how that guideline might have been applied? I
think you said you looked for anything the state had
put together. Did you do anything further?

A No, that’s all that I did to ascertain whether
there had been a state publication or a state collection
process.

Q Okay. Now, I think you said earlier it was an
express goal of yours to keep the Black Belt counties in
majority-black districts to the extent you could. Is that
fair?

A Yes.

Q And is it fair to say that you testified this
morning that’s part of the reason why your compact-
ness scores for CD 1 and CD 2 were lower, correct?

A That’s right. Oops. Sorry.
Q Go ahead.

[665] A That’s right. The elongated east to west
nature of the Black Belt itself is the reason that CD 2
is also elongated in east to west fashion and because
that’s close to the south of the state, that ends up pre-
scribing elongation for District 1, as well.

Q Okay. So the goal of a majority-black district
or rather the goal of two majority-black districts that
held most of the counties in the Black Belt took prece-
dence over compactness in District 2?
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A No. I can’t agree with that. In my understand-
ing of what by Alabamalites should be considered rea-
sonably compact, I used the state’s plan as a guide
where the least compact district from 10 years ago had
a score, a Polsby-Popper score of .13. All of my districts
are more compact than that. So I think I was able to
maintain reasonable compactness by Alabama stand-
ards in my entire plan.

Q Now, none of your plans put all 18 Black Belt
counties into one district, correct?

A That’s correct. Although if — I'm sorry.
Q No. Go ahead.

A IfI remember right, at least one plan puts all
18 Black Belt counties into either District 2 or District
7.

Q I'm not a hundred percent certain that’s cor-
rect. But we can —

A I am confident —
[666] Q We can turn to the maps?
A Sure. By memory, that’s plan D.

Q Okay. And — well, I've got plan D here, so . ..
and Milligan Exhibit 3, page 4. So I believe this is also
a Black Belt county, correct, where at least some of it
is in District 3?

A Indeed, that’s right. And that should be Rus-
sell, I think.
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Q I believe —
A Which -
Q Correct.

A In plan C then. Russell is whole and is in-
cluded in CD 2 as is the rest of the Black Belt included
in either CD 2 or CD 7.

Q Pickens in CD 3 in plan C is CD 4, correct?

A So that is not one of the 18 counties tradition-
ally identified with the Black Belt, although I agree
with you that sometimes is included on secondary lists.

Q Going to page 10 of your report. I think you list
here among the 18 Black Belt counties, Pickens county,
correct?

A That’s true that’s listed there and not exactly
sure which one it is from memory in the map. But I will
accept your representation if you’re saying that it’s ex-
cluded in plan C.

Q Our count was that the 18 counties were split
among at least three districts in each map, but we can
certainly compare [667] and contrast that later.

A Sure. I would be happy to do that later.

Q I want to get back to — so do you recall if there
was a reason why all 18 counties were not placed into
just two districts instead of three?

A Well, again, with apologies for repetition, one
is balancing as a mapmaker. Quite a formidable
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number of different priorities, and it’s possible that
that goal was only attained in 17.5 counties, which is I
think what we see in plan B, 17.5 out of 18.

I would submit that that’s quite a ways towards
the goal of securing representation in majority-black
districts throughout the Black Belt. And to that I
would only add one could certainly get all 18, but it
would come at a cost to other principles as we keep
hearing.

Q Would it potentially come at a cost to two ma-
jority-Black Voting Age Population districts?

A So now I think you’re asking is it possible to
get all 18 into Districts 2 and 7 in a plan where those
remain majority-black, right?

Q Right.

A I am confident that that’s possible. But it
would require either more county splits or less com-
pactness and more likely both.

Q Okay. So if your goal was to get most of the
Black Belt [668] counties both together and into ma-
jority-black districts, would it be fair to say the com-
munity of interest you were trying to keep together
was not so much the Black Belt as it was just black
people more generally?

A No, I don’t think so. I don’t think anywhere
here or ever have I identified black people, full stop, as
a community of interest. Communities of interest, in
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my understanding, are primarily geographical. And so
that would not qualify.

Q Okay. I will take this down.

Okay. Do you recall from the guidelines a state-
ment we were looking at just a moment ago that says
contest between comments will be avoided whenever
possible?

A That’s right. If I recall, that’s in that section j.
that we discussed.

Q Right. And you didn’t address incumbents an-
ywhere in your report, did you?

A That’s right. I did not, although I did obtain a
list of incumbent addresses while forming the plans.
Those were not part of the primary plan drawing. I did
look at the number of districts pairing incumbents at
the end, although that’s not included in the report.

Q Okay. So you know whether the maps place
one incumbent in each district or whether they put
multiple incumbents in some districts?

A From memory, I think it’s the case in all four
of my [669] illustrative plans that there were two dis-
tricts with multiple incumbents, either two incum-
bents or in some cases even three.

Q Okay. And if Tom Bryan’s supplemental report
indicated that between four and five incumbents in two
different districts —

A That’s consistent — sorry.
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JUDGE MARCUS: Let him finish the ques-
tion. Was there a question there, Mr. LaCour? If there
was, let me hear it, please.

BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Yeah. So if Tom Bryan’s report, Defense Ex-
hibit 4 at page 16 indicated that your plan places four
and five incumbents in districts with each other. Do
you have any reason to doubt that conclusion?

A No. On the contrary, I agree with that conclu-
sion, that there are either two districts with two in-
cumbents making four overall, or one with two and one
with three making five overall.

Q And you said you didn’t consider incumbents
at the outset of your map drawing process?

A That’s correct.

Q Did you consider them at any point in your
map drawing process?

A 1 did look at the end state the finalization
stage to see whether it would be possible to reduce the
incumbency [670] pairing — not to reduce incumbency
itself. And I — I determined that it would be possible,
for instance, to keep Representative Sewell in District
7, which she has represented, and I believe that my
plan D does so. That was accomplished with little cost
to the other principles.

I also satisfied myself that it would be possible to
further reduce the incumbency pairing and indeed to
reduce it to no pairing at all if we are willing to
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sacrifice the higher-ranked principles of compactness,
and certainly contiguity, but also if we are willing to
sacrifice the county integrity.

Q And there’s a lot to be accomplished if you sac-
rificed contiguity, correct?

A Yes. Although as we heard in the Massachu-
setts example, not everything.

Q Not everything. You don’t think it’s possible to
draw a geographically — or basically you don’t think it’s
possible to draw a map that is as compact as the maps
you have produced as the other criteria to the extent
you've applied them also avoids pairing incumbents
and results in two majority-black districts?

A I think what I'm comfortable saying is that to
reduce pairing of incumbents all the way to zero could
still be accomplished with two majority-black districts,
I think that it can, but at significant cost to the other
principles. If I [671] could add one thing.

Q Please.

A Just to illustrate some of the tradeoffs that
that requires, I note in my report that two incumbents
actually live not only in the same county, but a few
highway exits apart. And so it’s clear that to keep those
incumbents in different districts, of course one has to
split that county. That’s just a small illustration that it
can literally require sacrifice to the other principles in
order to raise the priority on incumbent protection.

Q One second. I apologize.
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Okay. Turning to back to core retention. So you
looked at the 2011 map and you looked at the 2021
map. Before you got started drawing your own illustra-
tive maps. And you said earlier that it — you could infer
that core retention might have been important to the
2021 Legislature. Is that fair?

A In fact I inferred that it was.

Q OkKkay. I think you testified earlier today that it
is impossible to have as high a core preservation as the
2021 map has while having two majority-black dis-
tricts; is that correct?

A Yes, I believe that to be a simple matter of
numbers.

Q Okay. When you were gearing up your algo-
rithm, did you try to preserve some degree of the core
of districts in drawing your first few thousand maps or

A That was — I'm sorry.
[672] Q Sorry. Go ahead.
A That was not a consideration.

Q Okay. What preservation like some of the
other criteria — I mean, it could be a matter of degree.
Would you agree?

A Yes, I would.

Q So you could try to preserve 80 percent of the
cores of districts or on average try to preserve 80
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percent of the cores of districts as one of your goals,
correct?

A  You could adopt that as a goal. That’s the ques-
tion?

Q Yes.
A Yes, you could.

Q And could your algorithm pull that in as con-
straints or as a preference in producing maps?

A Yes, I have done that in the past in other
states.

Q Okay. But not in this case, correct?
A 1did not include that in this case.

Q Core retention is a traditional redistricting
principle, correct?

A Well, I would say that like incumbency consid-
eration, it is expressly encouraged in some states and
is prohibited in others as a consideration making it
somewhat less traditional.

Q But it’s not uncommon for a legislature when
it sets down to draw a new set of maps to start with
the old set of maps, correct?

A That requires me to speculate about process.
Although I [673] do think it’s a reasonable inference.

Q OkKkay. In any event, it was inference you made
in Alabama for 2021, correct?
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A That’s right.

Q So you mentioned the State Board of Educa-
tion map a few times today. And you said that was in-
formative for you in drawing your illustrative plans?

A I considered it. I wouldn’t put it high up on the
list of considerations, but at some point in the line
drawing process I became curious just how that second
majority-black district was formed.

Q Uh-huh.

A And so I looked to that map to give me a sense
of priorities that the state had in drawing it.

Q Okay. In trying to draw a congressional map in
understanding the state’s priorities, do you think the
way the state drew its 2021 congressional map would
be a more informative source, or the way it drew its
2021, eight-member State Board of Education map?

A Itreated them both as highly informative.

Q Okay. Do you think one would be more in-
formative than the other?

A That’s hard to say. I mean, we are talking
about a congressional plan, but if the question that
you’re seeking to answer is how to make a decision that
is not present in the

& & *

[680] Q@ Okay. So we are getting close to the end,
Dr. Duchin. I appreciate your patience with me today.
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Returning to something you said near the begin-
ning. You talked about how you used your — the algo-
rithm and algorithmic computer system to generate a
large number of maps.

A Yes.

Q And you had certain constraints put in on the
front end when you started generating those maps.
And I believe you said minimum population deviation,
I think, was it plus or minus 1 percent?

A Yes.
Q And contiguity was baked in, as well, correct?

A Correct. The algorithm always enforces conti-
guity at the VTD level and the population deviation
threshold can be specified by the user.

Q Okay. What other constraints did you program
in at the outset before you started generating maps?

A The only other constraints — okay. So I doubt
that you want to hear specifics, but if you do, I'm happy
to expound on any of this, so let me know.

The algorithm in general has a strong preference
for compactness that’s, as you said, baked in. It doesn’t
have to be set by the user. The way that districts are
formed, it’s done in a manner that generally strongly
favors compactness, particularly by the cut edges defi-
nition that I described [681] earlier.

The only other constraint that was added in that
early algorithmic — in fact, not a constraint, but an
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algorithmic preference, was to prefer plans in which
there would be a second majority-minority district.
And I can explain how that was done, if you would like
to hear.

Q That would be great.

A Sure. So if you look at the BVAP in all seven
districts of a plan, we used what’s called an objective
function. In other words, a function that sets a goal.
And that function credited a point to a plan with a ma-
jority-minority district and then took the BVAP in the
second district, second highest BVAP, and added it to
that. So that, for example, a plan with one district at
52 percent and a second at 47 percent would get a 1.47
score.

Am I making sense so far?
Q As much sense as you will make to me.
A Thanks for saying. I appreciate that.

So — and then the way the algorithm is what’s
called a mark-off chain, and it randomly proposes a
new district configuration and then flips what you can
think of as a weighted coin, and so the probability of
acceptance was higher if that score was greater. And in
that way, an algorithm like that can be shown — there’s
— my lab has published papers on this topic. An algo-
rithm like that can be shown to do a good [682] job at
finding plans that are worthy of consideration in Gin-
gles I direction.



App. 372

Q Okay. But you did not run the algorithm with-
out that strong preference for two majority-black dis-
tricts, then, did you?

A 1did, in fact.

Q Okay. How many maps were generated when
you did that?

A In fact, I have a publication where I do that in
Alabama. And in that paper, we generated 2 million
districting plans for Alabama, which I think we’ll agree
is quite a few. And we found some with one majority-
black district, but never found a second with a major-
ity-black district in 2 million attempts. But, again,
that’s without taking race into account in any way in
the generation process.

Q Okay. So if you programmed into the algo-
rithm traditional districting criteria that did not in-
clude race, and you generate 2 million maps, not one of
them would have two majority-black districts in it?

A Well, I have to say that I regard minority op-
portunity to elect as an important traditional principle.
So I don’t know of a way to talk about the traditional
principles that is truly race blind.

Q Would - I think you — would you characterize
a map, then, that — assuming for a second that princi-
ple of avoiding — put it as minority vote dilution or cre-
ating [683] minority opportunity, how would you state
the principle? I want to make sure I'm stating ate as
you would.
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A Minority opportunity to elect, I have called it,
or minority electoral opportunity.

Q Okay. So if we remove that sort of more race
focused minority opportunity to elect factor from the
process and you run your 2 million maps, if you were
to get a map that had two majority-minority districts
that was manmade, that would suggest as an extreme
outlier, correct, if it was purporting to apply the same
traditional race blind districting principles?

A Just — as someone who uses that term profes-
sionally quite a bit, I think that’s a misuse of the term.

Q How so?

A So the term extreme outlier implies a proba-
bility distribution in which you’re in the tails. If — I
don’t understand any way to construct a probability
distribution that reflects the traditional principles and
is race blind. As I've said, I think it’s part and parcel,
in fact, of the nonnegotiable federal level principles.
And so I don’t know of a way to talk about the tradi-
tional principles as a package that is race blind.

Q Okay. So you offered no opinion in — I’'m sorry.
Please finish if —

A Well, I only was going to say that I don’t mean
to be resisting the question. I am trying to characterize
it in [684] language I am comfortable with.

Q Yeah. This is helpful.

So you don’t offer any opinion, then, in this case as
to whether you could get — whether it’s possible to
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draw two majority-minority districts in Alabama that
respect traditional districting criteria in a race blind
way?

A It is certainly —

MR. NAIFEH: Objection. That mischarac-
terizes what she said.

JUDGE MARCUS: Let’s finish the question.
Before you answer, Dr. Duchin, give us a chance. I am
not sure I heard the entire question. The objection
came in at the tail end of the question. Let’s ask it
crisply and then we will hear the objection.

MR. LACOUR: Thank you, Your Honor.
BY MR. LACOUR:

Q So Dr. Duchin, you said before that you don’t
really know how to take into account traditional dis-
tricting criteria without also including that more race
focused criteria of ensuring minority representation,
correct?

A 1do know how to run algorithms that are race
blind, but I don’t know how to think of those as answer-
ing to the traditional principles. They equally — just to
illustrate, I can also run algorithms that don’t equalize
populations and let some districts get ten times as big
as others. But then I [685] think we’ve departed from
the traditional principles.

Q Okay. So you offer no opinion, then, in this
case, though, as to whether it’s possible to draw accord-
ing to all traditional redistricting criteria minus that
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one — the race focus criteria of two majority-black dis-
tricts in the state of Alabama?

A That question I can certainly answer.

It is possible, because the world of possibility in-
cludes my demonstrative maps, which could be arrived
at through a random process. So it is certainly possible.

Q Okay. But when you applied a random process
in that study you referenced earlier and you drew 2
million maps, not one of them came back looking any-
thing like one of the four illustrative maps, at least
when it comes to Black Voting Age Population in two
districts?

A Well, I can’t answer whether one of them had
a majority-black district and a second that was 49.999,
in which case it could closely resemble one of the ones
that I drew. But I can say that my understanding is
that race consciousness is expressly permitted in order
to achieve minority electoral opportunity, and in par-
ticular, in order to draw majority-black districts,
stands to reason that one must consider race. And I
think the study that I referenced showing that it is
hard to draw two majority-black districts by accident
shows the importance of doing so on purpose.

[686] Q So — okay. Sorry. One moment, please.
Are you familiar with Dr. Imai — I'm — try to say his
first name — I know I'll get it wrong. Dr. Kosuke Imai?

THE WITNESS: It’s Kosuke and certainly
his — he and I have talked for many years about the
development — or for districting algorithms.
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BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Okay. He also engages in extreme outlier anal-
ysis, correct?

A He does.

MR. NAIFEH: I am going to object. This is
outside the scope of direct and outside the scope of her
opinions in this case.

JUDGE MARCUS: Are you asking her to
comment on Dr. Imai’s opinion?

MR. LACOUR: Your Honor, she said a mo-
ment ago that she would reject the —

JUDGE MARCUS: I'm asking you whether
you are asking her to comment about Dr. Imai’s opin-
ions.

MR. LACOUR: Not to question his opinions,
but to see if her — his opinions might affect her opinion
of what is possible when it comes to drawing majority-
black districts in Alabama.

JUDGE MARCUS: You might ask if she is
familiar with his opinion in this case.

[687] BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Dr. Duchin, you are familiar with Dr. Imai’s
opinions in this case?

A Absolutely not. In fact, I only very recently
learned that he was a witness in this case at all.
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Q Okay. Would it surprise you if I told you that
he drew 30,000 sample maps?

MR. NAIFEH: Objection.

JUDGE MARCUS: Let him finish the ques-
tion, Mr. Naifeh. Please.

BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Would it surprise you if I told you that he ran
an algorithm that produced 30,000 sample congres-
sional maps in the state that adhered to certain tradi-
tional districting criteria, including incumbency which
I know your maps did not, and that of the 30,000 maps,
not one of them came back with two majority-black dis-
tricts?

JUDGE MARCUS: The objection is sus-
tained.

MR. LACOUR: Okay. Let me just have one
moment to confer with my colleagues.

JUDGE MARCUS: Sure. Take your time.
(Mr. LaCour confers with co-counsel.)

BY MR. LACOUR:

Q Two quick final questions, and then I can let
you go.

So if you were to learn that Alabama split Mobile
County
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[853] comparable districts in the Hatcher plan, you
may see a couple of instances there where the Hatcher
plan is not as low, just because it does not have bound-
aries that exactly follow those physical features. But in
aggregate, across the board, every measure that you
would look at would say the Alabama plan is superior,
sometimes significantly so to the Hatcher plan.

Q Got it. But the Court, if it wants to look at Ta-
ble 5.4 and 5.5 and compare the scores for each district
in the Hatcher plan and the state’s plan; is that right?

A Right.

Q OkKkay. Let’s look at some of the maps you pre-
pared for the Hatcher plan, Mr. Bryan. I want to turn
now to Page 44 of your report, Page 44 according to the
filing information on the top of the page.

What do we see in this map, Mr. Bryan? This Map
Appendix 57
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A Sure.
Q Tell us what you are showing us in this map.

A Sure. So this is a — this is consistent with some
of the other maps that we’ve produced for different
plans. It’s an outline of the Hatcher plan, and it shows
the percent black alone by — let’s see — this is actually
mislabeled. This is a black alone by county map. So I
would disregard the label within the map and refer to
the map appendix, the title of the map. This is black
alone by VID — by county.

[854] Q Thank you.

Now, this District 2 — you see my cursor moving, I
take it, on the screen?

A Yes,I see.

Q District 2, which takes part of Mobile County
and then goes east, and District 7 which includes this
finger into Jefferson County, those are the two major-
ity-black districts in the Hatcher plan, are they not?

A That’s correct.

Q Is there any county in the state that is more
than 40 percent black population that is not included
in either District 7 or District 2 in the Hatcher plan?

A There’s only two pieces that I see. There’s,
again, in Jefferson, there’s a little portion of the district
that goes outside of 7. And then, I think similarly, you
move your cursor down and over to the right, that
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county with 79 percent goes just over the edge. And
that’s slightly split by district, as well.

But other than that, yeah. And 43 right there.
Other than that, there’s no other 40 percent or greater
wholly contained counties in any other districts.

Q Let’s move to the next map, Map Appendix 6.
What are you showing us here?

A Yeah. So this would be the Voting Age Popula-
tion by county overlaid with the Hatcher plan, again
showing the high [855] concentrations of population in
Jefferson County and Mobile and Baldwin counties.

Q Where does it appear, according to this map,
that District 7 is getting most of the people that popu-
late this district? Most of the people, regardless of race.

A Yeah. The biggest piece would be coming from
the area in Jefferson County.

Q And where would District 2 be getting most of
its total population?

A 1It’s a little less clear here because you've —it is
intersecting the Mobile and the Baldwin counties to
the southwest. But there is another also another pop-
ulous county in north central — 177,427, right in there.
So that’s a corner, just given that we have 700-and-
some thousand population, that county would be con-
tributing disproportionately to the overall plan.

Q Yeah. This is Montgomery County, correct?



App. 383

A Yeah. Correct. It’s not labeled on my map, but,
yeah, I believe that’s correct.

Q Let’slook at Map Appendix 7 on the next page.
A Sure.
Q What do we see here, Mr. Bryan?

A Yeah. So this is the — this is the plan that
shows the percent black alone by the VIDs overlaid
with the Hatcher plan.

Q Okay. What, if anything, is indicative to you of
the map [856] drawers’ intention when you look at the
splits of, say, Jefferson County, here between 7 and 6,
and Mobile County between Districts 2 and 1?7

A Sure. I'll be careful to put myself in the mind-
set or speak for the intention of the map drawer. I will
speak more so to the appearance or the outcome of the
map, if that is all right.

Q Assume that’s what I asked. Is this any ap-
pearance here that jumps out to as an a demographer?

A Yes. I would be more precise if I focus on that
than intent.

As you follow the new District 2 starting kind of
over on the eastern edge of the state near the border,
near where Columbus is, and you see that the northern
edge of District 2 starts tracing from east to west
across the central part of the state, you can see easily
that that line almost precisely exactly follows the con-
tours of the very highest black population VIDs — can
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literally go from one to the next and look on the north-
ern edge of that line and see what I call the yellow, red,
you know, 10 percent, 20 percent black, and then you
go below that line and you immediately see a 60 per-
cent or more black. It is literally like the dividing line
of black and much less black population.

As you follow that boundary around to the central
part of the state through the Black Belt, District 2
turns south and [857] goes down towards Mobile and
Baldwin counties. You can see that the map — and the
map that District 2, the boundaries of it go down
around Mobile. I think we have another map that may
show it in more detail. But we can illustrate that in
this plan the boundaries of District 2 went around Mo-
bile, not following a city boundary or any other admin-
istrative boundaries. It just followed the edge of where
black population was and was not.

Similarly, in District 7, you can see that it captures
large portions, very carefully captures large portions of
black populations. And as you go into Birmingham, Jef-
ferson County, you can see that it nearly perfectly
outer bounds only the exact black population VITDs in
the northeast corner of Birmingham.

Q Why don’t we go ahead and look at some of the
close-up maps that you prepared.

Let’s look at Map Appendix 9?
A Right.
Q What do we see here, Mr. Bryan?
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A Sure. So the dark line, if you can see carefully
enough it’s kind of dark black and a purple line. That’s
the existing district boundaries.

The —

Q Let meinterrupt you. By existing, do you mean
the 2011 plan?

[858] A Yes.
Q Okay.
A Thank you.

The existing 2011 district plan. And what I have
done here is I have overlaid, again, with a blue outline
where the Hatcher plan boundaries are. And if you
look, what the Hatcher plan does, is it kind of follows
closely along where the existing districts were, but
then I have shown with little blue dots here where the
Hatcher plan did what we call an outer bound. That is
it went beyond the existing districts and grabbed just
the precincts that had the highest concentrations of
black population.

You can see that there are plenty of VIDs sur-
rounding Birmingham that are colored yellow and or-
ange, reflecting lower black population concentrations.
And the plan just really prioritized — appears to have
prioritized making sure that it got the highest black
concentration VI'Ds into the plan.

Q Thank you.
Let’s look at the next map, Map Appendix 10.
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A Sure.

Q What are you showing us with this map, Mr.
Bryan?

A Yeah. So one of the — in just looking at the data
for the new Alabama plan, what I suspected we were
going to find is that there were some VI'Ds — I did not
know where, but there would be some VTDs where
there was black population that would

& & &
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[1655] PROCEEDINGS

(In open court.)

JUDGE MARCUS: Are the parties ready to
proceed?

MR. DAVIS: Defense is ready, and Mr. Byrne
the next witness is here and ready, Judge.

JUDGE MARCUS: Okay. Caster plaintiffs
are ready?

MS. KHANNA: Yes, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: And the Milligan and
Singleton plaintiffs?

MR. BLACKSHER: Singleton are.

MS. WELBORN: Milligan are, as well,
thank you.
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JUDGE MARCUS: We are going to turn now
to your next witness, Mr. Davis.

MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Judge. The defense
calls Mr. Bradley Byrne.

BRADLEY BYRNE,

having been first duly sworn, was examined and testi-
fied as follows:

JUDGE MARCUS: Thanks very much. And
if you would be kind enough to state your name for the
record.

THE WITNESS: My name is Bradley Byrne,
B-R-A-D-L-E-Y, B-Y-R-N-E.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you very much.
And with that, Mr. Davis, you may proceed.

MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Judge.

& & *

[1665] sixth generation ship builders. Making ships is
not like any other manufacturing process because
they’re so darn big. It’s just a lot more to it than mak-
ing a car, or even making the airplanes that Airbus
makes here.

So we — that ship building for the Navy here is a
big deal.
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Q In the years when you were representing this
area in Congress, Mr. Byrne, were there any particular
issues that you would focus on?

A Sure. When you are a Congressman, you're the
primary representative for the people in your district
in Washington, D.C.

So there were a myriad of things that were partic-
ular to this district that I had to focus on. The shipyard,
for example, very critical that we make sure those
ships are authorized and appropriated year after year
after year. There’s nothing automatic about that.
There’s a fight over that every year.

But it may sound mundane. We had a huge issue
here in involving the Gulf Red Snapper, which is the
number one fish people like to catch out in the Gulf of
Mexico. We have a huge industry in Orange Beach
built up around charter boats, people that own their
own boats. Think about it. It is not just the fact of the
boat, it’s you have to buy fuel for the boat, you have to
buy ice for the boat, you have to buy bait for the [1666]
boat, you have to buy beer to go out and have fun in
the summer time. It’s a huge industry. And we have a
real problem with those seasons being artificially
shortened, and we had to go work on trying to get those
seasons back to a reasonable level. For friends of mine
that wanted to go fishing on Saturday, it was for that
industry. It was important.

We have a program in the federal government
called GOMESA. It is an acronym. But basically, it pro-
vides a certain percentage of what the federal
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government gets in off shore gas leases and oil leases
that go to the states that border the Gulf of Mexico.
That’s to help them deal with what could be the very
negative effect from that like with the BP oil spill that
we had back in 2010. So I was constantly working on
that and similar programs.

So I actually formed a caucus in Congress called
the I-10 Caucus because those of us that represented
districts in the Gulf Coast had sort of unique problems
that we would actually work on together because those
same interests weren’t shared with our colleagues and
our state delegations up in the upper parts of our
states. So we would work together on things like that.

And then there would be just the stuff that, you
know, every industry faces when you deal with federal
government regulations. Ship building has all sorts of
interesting issues with the Coast Guard, et cetera. So,
yeah, I mean, I had to [1667] work on those. And really
had to become an expert on those issues along with my
staff.

Q Obviously, a longer snapper season would ben-
efit the people who enjoy going out in the Gulf and fish-
ing. Does it have any benefit to other residents of the
First District having a healthy fishing industry?

A Okay. That’s an industry around it. There are
charter boat fleets, people that work on charter boats.
There are people that run marinas. There are people
that sell fuel. There are people that sell ice. There are
people that sell bait. There are people that, you know,
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provide condos and hotel rooms that people stay in
when they go fishing.

I mean, I remember when I was first elected and I
had a meeting with the people in Orange Beach that
were in that industry, and the room was just crammed
full of people. I never really thought of it that clearly
before just how many people were touched by the fact
that we do or do not have a good snapper season. And
it was a major motivation to make sure that we got
that problem solved because it touched so many differ-
ent lives and touched so many different jobs.

Q Would issues that you worked on such as is the
snapper season or a healthy port or a healthy ship
building industry, would they help both the black and
the white residents of the First District?

A Oh, yeah. I mean, people down here, we have
people of all [1668] races that are working in all of
these industries. And it’s a major source to get good
high paying jobs. So it’s a benefit to everybody that we
do that.

Q Uh-huh. Are you familiar with the Wiregrass
region in the Second District?

A Tam.I told you earlier that I was a chancellor
of post-secondary education for the state of Alabama.
And we had three or four colleges in the Wiregrass
region. We had a number of vacancies in those col-
leges, so I had to go through presidential searches.
When you do a presidential search for a community
college, you have to involve the community. You have
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to get involved with the community. You have to under-
stand that community.

So, for example, Lurleen B. Wallace Community
College in Andalusia, Alabama, that’s Covington
County, I spent a lot of time in Andalusia because we
had to build a vacancy there. So, yes, I have spent a lot
of time in the Wiregrass of Alabama because of that
position.

Q Tell me how the interest of the Wiregrass
would compare to the interest of the counties that are
in the First Congressional District.

A Well, what I described to you before is in the
First Congressional District southwest Alabama,
something’s built around the water, okay? The Wire-
grass is built around a couple of things. Fort Rucker,
which an Army helicopter training base [1669] there in
Ozark is a big part of the Wiregrass. Troy State Uni-
versity is a huge part of the Wiregrass.

People in the Wiregrass sort of revolve around
Dothan down at the southern end and Montgomery at
the northern end. And they have agricultural interests
that are different from the agricultural interests that
will be out here in southwest Alabama. They don’t have
a nursery industry like we have here. We have major
wholesale nursery businesses here. They don’t have
major watermelon crops. They don’t have major pecan
crops. They’re more built in to peanuts and cotton and
cattle.
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So they face, for example, during — during in An-
dalusia, Alabama, you face more towards Troy or
Ozark or Dothan. You don’t face down here in south-
west Alabama. In addition, it’s kind of hard to get from
Mobile to the Wiregrass. We don’t have really good
highway connections over there. So it’s not easy for
people from there to come here or for people from here
to go there.

So they sort of face to the southeastern part of the
state. We face to the southwestern part of the state.

Q If you were representing the Second District,
would you focus on the same issues that you are fo-
cused on when representing the First?

A No, sir. For example, I was on the Armed Ser-
vices Committee, and with the Navy shipyard, I am go-
ing to be focused on Navy stuff.

[1670] If I represented the Second Congressional
District, I would be focused on the Army and particu-
larly Army helicopters. That’s what they do at Fort
Rucker.

In this district, I was focused for higher education
reasons on the University of South Alabama. If I rep-
resented the Second District, I would be focused on
Troy. Now, Troy has a different mission from the Uni-
versity of South Alabama. They have an international
presence. So working with Troy would be very different
from working for the University of South Alabama.
Troy doesn’t have a medical school, but it has a whole
lot of other stuff that’s pretty darn important. So there
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would — and the agricultural interests I just described
are very different.

So I would think being the congressman from the
Second District requires a different level of expertise
and level of expertise that I feel like I had to have to
represent this district.

Q Iwant to share another screen now, Mr. Byrne.
And this is Milligan Exhibit 3, page 7 of that exhibit.

These are some proposed congressional maps that
one of the plaintiffs’ experts presented, I will represent
to you, Mr. Byrne.

Review just say these — here’s Plan A and B, and
then I will scroll down to Plan C and Plan D, as well.

Focus on any of those, and tell us what’s your re-
action [1671] is. Do you see any issues with represent-
ing these districts?

A Yes. If you look at Plan A and Plan B, you see
it takes in part of Mobile County, all of Baldwin
County, and then goes east into the Wiregrass legion.
So you would essential have to become an expert on
two different regions altogether, two different commu-
nities of interest. I know that’s important for those pro-
ceedings.

Then if you look at that district just above it, that
district is essentially part of the Black Belt and part of
southwest Alabama. So the person representing that
district would essentially have to have two very dra-
matically different sets of expertise. I think it would be
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very difficult to be the congressman for either of those
districts not just the fact you would have this vast ge-
ographic area you would have to cover, but you would
be covering two very different communities of interest.

Q Uh-huh. Why would it make it more difficult
to represent a district if it encompassed different com-
munities of interest?

A Well, for example, if you represented that blue
district at the very bottom, you would have to be an
expert on things involving Navy shipyards and Army
helicopter bases. You would have to be an expert when
it comes to agricultural issues like everything from
wholesale nurseries, watermelons, pecans, to peanuts,
cattle production, and cotton production. You would
have to be focused on two major universities that have
very [1672] different missions. You would have to be
focused on Dothan. You would have to be focused on
Andalusia. You would have to be focused on Brewton,
Mobile, and then all of Baldwin County, which is the
fastest growing county in the state.

So I am not saying you couldn’t do it. It would be
extremely difficult to do it, and you would find yourself
somewhat diffused in your ability to be an effective ad-
vocate for that region.

Q What do you mean by diffused?

A Well, there’s only so many hours in the day for
a congressman and the staff that that congressman
has. And there are hundreds if not thousands of issues
in Washington. And you have got to figure out what
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your focus is going to be on. And focus is very im-
portant for a member of Congress because there’s just
not enough bandwidth, and there’s only 435 congress-
men, and you are one of them.

So you really have to figure out where am I going
to put my time? Where am I going to put the resources
of my staff? What fights am I going to fight. If you are
fighting a whole bunch of different fights because you
have to, because you have got that many interests in
your district, you are not going to be effective on each
one of those. The more you can sort of focus your ener-
gies, the more effective you will be.

I will give you an example. Everybody in the
House of Representatives and the staff and the leader-
ship, et cetera [1673] knew that I was interested in a
bridge across Mobile Bay, fixing the snapper problem,
and gaining the ships authorizing and appropriated for
the shipyard here. Literally, I had the Speaker come up
to me on the floor and say, we get it. It’s that bridge, it’s
those ships, and it’s those fish. Now, when they know
that, they know they have got to make me happy on
that to get my votes. If they don’t make me happy on
that, they are not going to get my votes.

Now, if I say I have 20 different things I want you
to make me happy on, they will say, look, I am not going
to make you happy on 20 things. You tell me what your
priorities are. We will help you get those things done,
and then you will be a part of the team. That’s how it
works. Anybody that tries to be like out there fighting
on every fight tends not to win any fight.
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Q Let’s say you represented — I guess I should
show you the maps again. If you represented a blue
district, do you see any difficulty in just getting around
and visiting your constituents?

A Yeah. It’s a long way from Mobile to Dothan.
Actually, the way you get from Mobile to Dothan is that
you get on Interstate 10, you drive east through the
Florida panhandle, and then you get just north of Pan-
ama City you turn north. So it’s about a three to three-
and-a-half hour drive from Mobile to Dothan.

[1674] And north of there to Henry County, that’s
a county just north of Houston County, it’s even further
than that. And so in order to represent the people in
Abbeville who deserve good representation, even if you
just visited there for an hour, you would spend three-
and-a-half, maybe four hours just to get there and that
much going back, so it’s a long haul.

And the interests as I said of that southeastern
part of the state are very different than the interests
in the southwestern part of the state.

So when you finish with having your meetings in
an area like that, go back to Washington, you have to
decide, all right, what I am going to focus on? What are
the priorities for this sort of sprawling district with all
these different interests?

And somebody is going to lose out. That’s just the
way it is. There’s only so much bandwidth for a con-
gressman, and that person has to decide what am I
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going to focus on? Am I going to help the shipyard in
Mobile, or am I going to help Fort Rucker?

Q Where do you think a congressman or con-
gresswoman who represented the blue district would
want to have local offices?

A Well, you clearly want to have your main office
Mobile, but you want to have as pretty significant office
as you can afford in Dothan. You are only allotted so
much money as a congressman for your office, staff,
and your office rent. So [1675] you have got to spread
that over Mobile and Dothan. And Baldwin County is
the fastest growing county in the state. You have to
have a presence in Baldwin County for a lot of different
reasons.

Then I guess you try to find some way to put some-
thing in Andalusia. That’s kind of more centrally lo-
cated geographically. But as I said, and I can say it’s
really hard to get from here to Andalusia. Andalusia is
a pretty hefty drive from here. Not as far as Dothan,
but it’s still a hefty drive because there’s no good high-
way to get there.

Q Look at this yellow district or tan, the one
above the blue district.

Let’s say there was a primary election in that dis-
trict, and someone was running to be the Democratic
candidate, and that someone was from Mobile. There
was another person running in the primary from
Montgomery. Do you have any thoughts on who might
have a stronger base of support geographically?
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A I would think that if you were from Montgom-
ery, you would have a stronger chance than if you’re
representing that part that’s in Mobile.

The Black Belt — what those counties primarily
look like to me, the Black Belt is kind of its own thing.
It’s got very rural, very agricultural. And they look
more to Montgomery than they look to Mobile for sure.
So I would think somebody from Montgomery would
have a better shot at that district than [1676] some-
body from Mobile.

Q Do you think it possible, Mr. Byrne, if you had
a map in Plan A or Plan B that you could have, say, a
congressman for the blue district from Dothan or An-
dalusia and a congressman for the yellow district from
Montgomery so that you had no one in Congress from
the Mobile region?

A That could happen, yeah. It’s kind of hard to
know exactly what parts of Mobile County are being
taken with those two plans. But if you dilute the vote
in Mobile County, that obviously is going to make the
vote of the rest of that district — those two districts
more important. So, yeah, you could have a congress-
man from Dothan under both of those plans and a con-
gressman from Montgomery and not a congressman
from Mobile, which would be a tragedy for the people
down here.

Q Why would it be a tragedy for the people down
there?
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A I'm not saying somebody from Dothan or
Montgomery wouldn’t care about this area. But as I
said before, you wouldn’t have somebody that’s fo-
cused, focused on the port, focused on the shipyard, fo-
cused on our fishery in the Gulf of Mexico, focused on
the nursery issues we have here. They just — they're
just not enough bandwidth to be as focused as I was
able to be focused. I could walk in a room and talk
about any of those issues and master it. If I had to rep-
resent those other areas, as well, or somebody from the
other areas had to represent Mobile, I just don’t think
that you could master it.

[1677] Q Do Mobile and Montgomery ever com-
pete each other, in terms of trying to recruit busi-
nesses, for example?

A Not that I know of. Their economic develop-
ment plan, their industrial plan is very different from
ours. Montgomery, for all the right reasons, has really
focused on two things — automotive, obviously with the
Hyundai plant there and all the suppliers of the Hyun-
dai plant, but also because of their Air Force presence,
they really focus on how they can magnify Maxwell Air
Force Base and things that are a part of that.

I think they have made a very smart decision to do
that, by the way, but that’s a different economic plan
than what we have done here. So we’re as much trying
to help them because of the port. So as anything else, I
don’t really think we believe ourselves that we’re com-
peting with them.
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Q Would you have any concerns with the con-
gressional map that divided the Mobile region along
racial lines?

A Yes.
Q What would those be?

A Well, when you are a Congressman, you should
be representing everybody and thinking about how I
do X is that going to affect everybody in my district?
You shouldn’t be thinking about, I am going to do this
because it helps black people, or I'm going to do this
because it helps white people. I am going to do this be-
cause it helps everybody. And if you help everybody,
everybody rises. That’s what you want.

[1678] Mobile is a little bit different from the rest
of the state. We do not have the same history during
the Civil Rights movement that Selma, Montgomery,
Birmingham did. We had a mayor here named Joe
Lang who worked with a Civil Rights leader down here
named John LeFlore. And so we didn’t have some of the
violence, the extent of the violence that you saw in the
other parts of the state. We tried to work through our
issues because we thought it was more important for
us to work through those issues and work together to
try to figure out a way to live together harmoniously.
Were we perfect about it? No, we did not. But we didn’t
have the problems you saw in the rest of the state be-
cause we at least made the effort to work together.

Q When you said that you worked — that you
served on the state school board, correct?
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A Yeah.

Q I want to share a map now which is Defend-
ants’ Exhibit 26. This is the 2001 map, Mr. Byrne. |
know — I think you were in the State Senate then,
weren’t you?

A 1In 2001, I was still on the state school board.

Q Okay. So which district did you represent in
the state school board?

A District number 1.

Q Thank you. Did you ever get calls from people
in, say District 5 when you were on the school board?

[1679] A 1did. There was some people in Monroe
County, I remember, and maybe Clarke County who
thought I was their state school board member, and
they would call me, and I would always call the mem-
ber for that district when they did and ask him or her
because it changed if they wanted me to help those peo-
ple, and they would say, please. And I would go up there
and talk with them and explain to them I was not their
school board.

Q Now, I want to share a newer map. This is from
Caster Exhibit 1, which for the record, was Mr.
Cooper’s report. This is page 19 of that report. And I
will represent to you, Mr. Byrne, this is the new state
school board map that was passed by the Legislature
this cycle just a couple of months ago.
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What thoughts if any do you have about this map,
in particular, the way the blue district includes part of
Mobile and Baldwin County is constructed?

A Well, I testified before the Legislature Redis-
tricting Committee that I felt like Mobile and Baldwin
County should be kept whole and contiguous. So to the
extent that this map includes a district that comes
from Montgomery all the way into Mobile County, I
didn’t much like it.

Q Why did you not like it?

A Because Mobile County school system is the
largest school system in the state. And it has unique
issues because it’s the largest in the state. And I felt
like we needed a school board [1680] member who was
focused on Mobile County as well as the other counties.
I had Baldwin and Escambia as well. But there were
so many issues with the Mobile County school system,
a lot of my time was spent focused on that. And if you
break it up into two different people, you don’t really
have that level of focus.

I'm not saying that the people that represent those
two districts aren’t working as hard as they can. I'm
sure they are. But it’s very difficult to be focused on the
Mobile County school system if you have got almost all
the Black Belt, which that district up in the northern
part is and a big chunk of the Wiregrass, which the
lower part of the — the lower district is.
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Q Someone who has served both in Congress and
on the state school board, how do the roles of those two
offices compare to each other, Mr. Byrne?

A Theyre very different. Youre on the state
school board, you are focused on educational issues.
That’s it.

Now, there are some work force development is-
sues that go with that, et cetera. But that’s pretty
much it. You are just focused on educational issues.
When you are in the United States Congress, you are
focused on a large number of issues. I mean, it’s almost
everything comes within the purview of the United
States Congress from foreign policy, defense policy,
health care, to internal security, and education, as well.
1[1681] was on the Education and Labor Committee in
the House of Representatives. And one of the problems
I had as a congressman is that people expected you to
be knowledgeable on so many different things.

Now, at least you have got a staff in Congress.
When I was on the state school board, I had no staff. I
had to rely upon the staff of the State Department of
Education, and they had other things to do.

So it was difficult to me to be on the state school
board. But at least I could just focus on one set of issues
and try to master them.

And so it was very different being in both of those
roles. But I enjoyed both of those roles.

Q Considering the different roles between the
school board and the congressman, even if you
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assumed it made sense to split Mobile County in a
school board map, does that mean it would make sense
to do so in a congressional map?

A No. It would not make sense. At least on the
school board, you are focused on one set of issues. So if
I'm from Montgomery and I have got half of Mobile
County from Mobile and I have part of the Wiregrass,
at least, I have got a geographically diverse area. At
least, I'm really only focused on a very set, defined set
of issues.

Now, they are very important issues. Don’t get me
wrong. But at least I could focus on those issues and
try to make sure [1682] as I go from county to county
that I am applying what I know on these issues to each
one of those counties as they are very different.

Q When you campaigned for Congress in the dif-
ferent elections, Mr. Byrne, what parts of your district
would you campaign in?

A All of them. I had a — go ahead.

Q Would you campaign in areas that were both
more — would you campaign in neighborhoods or areas
that had a large African-American community?

A Oh, yeah. You can’t run for Congress in this
district — I will just make sure — to be clear — in this
district without touching every part of it. And I made
a concerted effort to go everywhere. In fact, if you look
at my schedule, I spent a disproportionate amount of
my time in the more rural areas than I did in more
populated areas, because if you want to go up to
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Monroeville, you might as well spend some time in
Monroe County.

There are parts of Monroe County that are almost
completely African-American. There’s a little town in
north Monroe county called Beatrice that’s 50/50. 1 had
a town ball in Beatrice. Someone said, why in the world
would you bother spending time in Beatrice because
it’s so small? I said they deserve to be represented, too.
So I went to all parts of my district.

[1683] Prichard probably didn’t give me 5 percent
of the vote in my elections. I probably lost there by a
huge margin. But I would go and have town hall meet-
ings and campaign in Prichard because I believed the
people in Prichard deserve to have a good congress-
man.

Q When you ran for Congress, Mr. Byrne, did you
run as a candidate of any political party?

A Yes. I was a Republican.
Q Why are you a Republican, Mr. Byrne?

A Because the Republican Party is closer to the
conservative principles that I believe in than the Dem-
ocratic Party is. I started out as a Democrat, but I felt
like by 1997 I guess is when I switched parties, the
Democratic Party had migrated away from what were
my principles. Not putting down the Democratic Party
if people are Democrats. I have friends who are Demo-
crats and work with a lot of Democrats, but I just felt
like the Republican Party is more closely aligned with
where I stood on issues and principles.
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Q Did you work with Democrats when you were
in Congress?

A Oh, yes. All the time. I will give you two exam-
ples. I served on the Armed Services Committee. Every
year, the only bill the Armed Services Committee
works on is the National Defense Authorization, which
we have passed out of the Congress every year since
John Kennedy was president. Those bills are always
bipartisan 100 years ago percent of the time. We work
[1684] — from the very beginning of the years, we work
on that bill. We consciously work together to make sure
that bill, the bill that authorizes the defense of this
country is something that we can all vote for.

So we work at being bipartisan, very much so.

The other example I give you is this: Shortly after
President Trump was elected, this “Me-Too” movement
came out. And we discovered that we have “Me-Too”
problems in United States Congress. But we also dis-
covered that members of the United States Congress
weren’t subject to the same processes that the private
sector was subject to under Title VII of the 1964 Civil
Rights Act.

Now, I spent a career as a labor employment attor-
ney telling small, medium-sized businesses in Ala-
bama what they had to do to comply with that law. And
here in Congress, the body that passed that law was
not holding itself under the same set of accountability
processes.
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So I worked with a very liberal Democrat con-
gresswoman from California, Jackie Speier, and we put
together a bill that made Congress be as accountable,
even more accountable than we hold people in the pri-
vate sector, and that bill that Jackie and I put together
passed the United States House unanimously, passed
the United States Senate unanimously, and is a law of
the United States now. And those are just two exam-
ples.

I worked all the time in a bipartisan manner, be-
cause I [1685] firmly believe that the best legislation
in Washington is bipartisan legislation. The hardest
legislation to pass in Washington is partisan legisla-
tion. And it’s always a problem, always.

So I enjoyed working the bipartisan fashion. I
know you look up there now and think, they’re com-
pletely divided. They can’t get along. And there are
problems. Don’t get me wrong. But there are still peo-
ple up there, former colleagues of mine on both sides of
the aisle that understand what I say is true, and
they're still trying to work together to make things
happen and happen in the right way.

Q When you served on the delegation with Con-
gresswoman Sewell for the Seventh District, did you
have the opportunity to work with her on any issues?

A Oh, all the time. All the time. We shared
Clarke County. We actually had joint town halls to-
gether.
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If she had an issue that affected her district, you
know uniquely, she would call on the other members of
the delegation to help her, and we always did, 100
years ago percent of the time. And she always helped
us. We all worked together. It wasn’t like it was unique
to her.

So Terry was a part of a group called Faith and
Politics. I assume she is still a part of it. That’s the
group that brings the pilgrimage to Alabama every
year around the anniversary of the Edmund Pettus
Bridge March from 1965. She [1686] wanted to make
sure that when that group came here to Alabama,
which would bring couple hundred people, people from
Congress, people from business and industry, people
from foundations, she wanted to make sure that we
were all working together, that they saw Alabama, the
Alabama delegation working together.

So I always participated in that pilgrimage with
her. Usually on Saturday mornings when she did her
program either at Brown Chapel in Selma or the Dex-
ter Avenue Baptist Church in Montgomery, she would
ask me to be sort of her sidekick for it, so that we could
get up and tell the people from all the other parties of
America here’s a Democrat and Republican, black
woman and white man working together on issues that
matter to the people of Alabama, in particular, matters
that revolve around Civil Rights.

And I was always honored that she felt comforta-
ble enough to ask me to do that. And I can tell you, you
can sit in that room with some of the people in that
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room like John Lewis who we lost last year, and you
realize what people in this state went through to get
us the quality of life we have got today — to get to today.
I feel like a little bitty nothing compared to people like
that. But it was an honor always to be with Terry and
to work with her on — whether it’s the pilgrimage or
other things that were important to our district.

Q When you were in Congress, Mr. Byrne, were
there any issues you worked on to devote your time
and your political [1687] capital towards that you
thought and expected to have a particular benefit to
your African-American constituents?

A Just about everything. If I am doing something
that’s going to benefit the economy in southwest Ala-
bama, it’s going to benefit African-Americans in my
district, of course, it is. If you go to the various busi-
nesses in this area, and I traveled and met with work-
ers in every one of these industries. It was always black
and white. That’s the nature of our work force down
here. I mean, whether you are at a chemical plant, steel
plant, ship building plant, airplane, you are going to
have a mixed group of people.

So every time I was doing something for the econ-
omy. But I particularly felt like I was helping them
every time we worked on education issues. And this
goes back to my state school board days. I think the
number one Civil Rights issue in Alabama today is the
fact that we don’t give a quality education to black peo-
ple like we do the white people. And I really feel
strongly about that. We are not going to have the sort
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of gains and advances and progress we need in this
state until we make more improvements to our educa-
tion system. That’s true across the country, but I am
more focused on Alabama.

Q Have you spent any time working with
HBCUs, Mr. Byrne?

A Yes, sir. HBCUs are historically black colleges
and universities. We had several of them in the two-
year college [1688] system in Alabama include Bishop
State here in Mobile. So when I was on the state school
board, I worked with them. When I was chancellor of
post-secondary education I worked with them. And by
the way, including Tuskegee, and then when I got to
Congress, a congresswoman from North Carolina
named Alma Adams asked me to be a co-chair with her
of the HBCU Congressional Causas. So for five years I
guess it was, I was the co-chair of the HBCU Congres-
sional Caucus.

Q Did you spend time working on community
health centers?

A Oh, yes. We have several community health
centers here in the district. I've gotten to know them
pretty well. I am very impressed with the quality of
health care that they provide to their patients. And I
was a strong advocate for them and continue to be a
strong advocate for them because I think that they
provide quality health care close near where people
live, so it’s community plan, and it’s the best way I
think to get primary health care to people in those
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communities. So I am a strong supporter of community
health center.

Q Back to your co-chairmanship on the HBCU
caucus, I am not suggesting this was the reason you
did it, but did you receive any recognition for your ser-
vice in that area?

A 1 did. The Thurgood Marshall Fund gave me
an award three years. Probably one of the awards that
I am the most proud of Thurgood Marshall Fund
works to provide funding, private funding to HBCUs
across America. And I had no idea [1689] they were go-
ing to give me an award, and it just knocked me out
when they did. I remain in contact with them. I still
continue to work with them even though I am not in
Congress because I am a huge believer in HBCUs, and
I think what the Thurgood Marshall Fund is doing and
the United Negro College Fund, both of them together
are doing great work for those colleges, and I think
they are important to America.

Q Just a few more questions, Mr. Byrne. And 1
will remind you. We want to make sure the Court un-
derstands your testimony that Ms. Decker can take it
down. We will try to slow down just a little. I want to —
when you were in Congress, did you consider yourself
to be the representative of both Republicans and Dem-
ocrats in your district?

A Yes.



App. 414

Q Did you consider yourself to be the representa-
tive of both the white and African-American constitu-
ents in your district?

A Absolutely, yes.

Q I want to share a screen now, Mr. Byrne. This
is Milligan Exhibit 5. It is the report of one of their ex-
perts, Dr. King, and she is offering opinions on certain
issues. I want to read this introduction section into the
record so you can get some context. Dr. King writes,
White law makers in Alabama learned long ago to color
mask their public statements, just as they have
learned to color mask the legislation intended to pro-
tect their racial prerogatives.

[1690] Not since the high tide of brazen white su-
premacy when George Wallace proclaimed, segrega-
tion forever, have public figures been so bold.

MS. WELBORN: Mr. Davis, this is Dr. Bag-
ley’s report, not Dr. King’s report.

MR. DAVIS: I apologize for that confusion.
Yes. Thank you for the correction.

BY MR. DAVIS:

Q Then Mr. Bagley after giving some examples
says this.

JUDGE MARCUS: I think you have to just
— as we proceed, Mr. Davis, just take your time and
speak right into the speaker.

MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Judge.
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BY MR. DAVIS:

Q Iwill read now an excerpt into the record from
Milligan Exhibit 5, the Bagley report.

Dr. Bagley writes, Representative Bradley Byrne
of the State’s First Congressional District when he was
vying for a Senate seat aired a campaign ad in which
he condemned black people by placing their images in
a fire.

The television spot begins with Byrne staring into
a wood fire in a backyard and lamenting the loss of his
brother in the armed services. He shifts to lamenting
the course the country is taking as the faces of black
and brown people appear in the fire. Former national
football league quarterback Colin [1691] Kaepernick
appears in the fire as Byrne calls him an entitled ath-
lete dishonoring the American flag. Members of the
congressional caucus known as the Squad, Ilhan Omar
and Alexandria Ocasio Cortez appear in the fire and
are accused of attacking America and cheapening 9/11.
No white people appear in the fire.

My question to you, Mr. Byrne, is: Is there any-
thing you care to say in response?

A Yes, sir. That ad was about my brother. And the
fire was a fire in the fire pit at our hunting camp that
he and I used to sit around all the time. So that ad was
about my brother.

Now, the fact that I'm contrasting a rich, NFL
quarterback named Colin Kaepernick who won’t stand
up during the national anthem with my brother’s
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service who made far less than Colin Kaepernick
makes and literally contracted a disease during one of
his deployments with the 20th Special Forces group
that killed him, I think that’s a legitimate thing for me
to raise. I have grave disagreements with Representa-
tive Alexandria Ocasio Cortez and Representative
Omar. But I can tell you I never had any negative in-
teraction with either one of them.

Representative Alexandria Ocasio Cortez, actu-
ally, her office was in my office building. And when she
was relatively new, she couldn’t find her way to her of-
fice and literally stopped me in the hallway and asked
me, can you tell me where my office is? I said, yes,
ma’am, and I told her where it was. [1692] And we sort
of developed a personal rapport just because she got to
the moment of weakness, which we all have in Con-
gress by the way. It’s easy to get lost in those buildings.

So we never really had a political conversation,
but we would have these personal sort of, you know,
informal social interactions. I disagree with her on the
issues, but I don’t have any problems with her as a per-
son.

The same is true for Ms. Omar. Now, Ms. Omar
served on the Education and Labor Committee with
me. So we would have interactions about education is-
sues, and we had some disagreements about — but
there was no — that was really about my brother. It was
not about those other people. And the fact that we used
them was to simply contrast them and their positions
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with the service that my brother had rendered to our
country.

Q Was it your intention to single out anyone be-
cause of their race?

A No. I singled out Mr. Kaepernick because he
won’t stand up during the national anthem, and there
are plenty of black athletes that stand up during the
national anthem by the way. I have noticed that’s not
as what a lot of people try to portray it to be.

And I am singling out Ms. Alexandria Ocasio Cor-
tez and Ms. Omar because of their attacks against
America. They attack American values. And I think it’s
perfectly within the realm [1693] of what’s appropriate
dialogue to say, I expect somebody that’s making this
money as Colin Kaepernick to stand up during the na-
tional anthem, and I don’t think members of Congress
should be attacking the country.

Q Mr. Byrne, I want you to think of the people
who are involved in congressional campaigns, whether
it’s a candidate or someone considering a run, that per-
son’s staff, volunteers, and then I want you to assume
that a couple of weeks before the January 28th dead-
line, the congressional map changes from the way it’s
usually been and what the Legislature passed to all of
a sudden it changes to something like what the plain-
tiffs are representing excuse me — what the plaintiffs
are proposing.

Do you see any issues that would cause with con-
gressional campaigns?
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A Yes, sir. First of all, we have primaries in four
months, general election in ten months. Once you turn
the calendar to the beginning of the year, you have that
primary staring you in the face, you have already set
your campaign in place. You already have your plan in
place. You have already got volunteers set up ready to
go. You have got, you know, the campaign ad messaging
already worked out. And you are hitting the ground
running.

So if you change my district on me with that little
time, it’s going to put a substantial burden on my abil-
ity to refocus my campaign, conduct my campaign, get
volunteers, et cetera. [1694] And particularly if you
give me a new geographic area that I haven’t repre-
sented before, where I don’t have, you know, the natu-
ral contacts, et cetera, that’s a huge problem for any
community. And I don’t — and that’s true for any can-
didate, Democrat, Republican, people that are long-
time public office holders, people that are brand new. It
could be a tremendous difficulty.

Q Mr. Byrne, you said you went to a public hear-
ing where some of these districts were at issue. Why
did you go to the public hearing? Why are you here to-
day to talk to the Court about districts?

A Number one, I am a citizen, so I have —so I am
not just any citizen. I mean, I served on the state school
board, held a district for eight years. I served in the
United States House of Representatives representing
one of the districts for seven years. I have, you know, a
unique set of understandings about what it’s like to
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represent these areas. And I felt like I owed it to the
system. I owed it to the public to stand up and say — as
somebody that’s actually done this work, these dis-
tricts the way I'm proposing them makes sense this
way.

And the most important thing I was trying to say
is keep this particular community together. Keep these
communities together. Don’t pull southwest Alabama
apart because we work together down here. Mobile
area Chamber of Commerce doesn’t just do economic
development for Mobile County. They also do [1695] it
for Washington County.

JUDGE MARCUS: Let me stop you for a
second, Mr. Byrne. You cut out. The sound cut out for a
minute. So take your time and just repeat what you
just said if you would, please.

THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. What I have been the
most concerned about is that people that pull apart
southwest Alabama and have different parts being
represented — we work together down here in south-
west Alabama. The example I used was the Mobile
area Chamber of Commerce, the economic develop-
ment for both Mobile County and Washington County,
because we’re so closely connected.

We need to stay together down here. We have a
group called CAP, Cultural Alabama partnership, that
pulls together these counties so that we have common
representation, common advocacy efforts with the Ala-
bama Legislature and the members of Congress. So
keep us together. Don’t pull us apart. Let us be one
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group of people that work together for our region of the
state and maximize the benefits that we want to get
for our people down here.

MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Mr. Byrne. I have
no further questions and pass the witness at this time.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you, counsel.
Cross-examination in what order did you propose to
proceed on behalf of Milligan and Caster and the Sin-
gleton? And we leave that up to you.

[1696] MS. WELBORN: I will be going first
for the Milligan plaintiffs, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. And, Mr. What-
ley, would you be going second or the Caster folks going
second?

MR. WHATLEY: Doesn’t matter to me, Your
Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Ileave that up to you. So
let’s begin —

MR. WHATLEY: I am happy for the Caster plain-
tiffs to go second.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Thanks very
much.

Ms. Welborn, you may proceed with your cross-ex-
amination.

MS. WELBORN: Thank you.



App. 421

CROSS-EXAMINATION
BY MS. WELBORN:

Q Representative Byrne, my name is Kaitlin
Welborn, and I represent the Milligan plaintiffs. Good
morning.

A Good morning.

Q So I'd like to talk about the current redistrict-
ing plan first. You had no direct role in drawing the
current congressional map in Alabama, right?

A 1 didn’t have any direct role, but I did testify
before the committee.

Q But other than that, you did not do anything
to —

A That’s correct.
Q - help draw the congressional map?
[1697] A That’s correct.

Q And you did not provide any input to Mr. Hina-
man, the map drawer?

A 1 did not know Mr. Hinaman.
Q I'm sorry?
A 1don’t think I know him.

Q Okay. And you did not speak with Representa-
tive Pringle about the 2021 map?

A TIdid.
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You did?
Yes.

O O

I'm sorry?

A Heis the chair of the committee, and I testified
before the committee.

Q Okay. But did you speak to Representative
Pringle outside of the public hearing?

A 1don’t believe I did, no.

Q Okay. And did you not speak with Senator
McClendon outside of the public hearing?

A 1don’t believe I did, no.

Q And you did not speak with Secretary Merrill’s
expert Thomas Bryan?

A No, ma’am.
Q OkKkay. You first ran for Congress in a special
election in 2013, right?
* * *

[1849] MR. LACOUR: Thank you, Your
Honors.

This case represents an extraordinary attack on
an ordinary map.

We have here an equal protection claim that lacks
any mention of the current Legislature’s intent, and
we have a Section 2 claim in which the plaintiffs them-
selves have proven through two of their experts that
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you could not draw two majority-minority districts if
you drew based only on traditional race-neutral dis-
tricting principles.

So plaintiffs’ equal protection claim fails because
traditional race — redistricting principles were not sub-
ordinated to race in the 2021 Legislature’s map. And
plaintiffs’ Section 2 claims fail at Gingles I because in
each of their 11 illustrative plans, traditional redis-
tricting principles are subordinated to race.

But before I get into the merits any further, I did
want to touch on the fact that the burden is incredibly
high here. Not only are they seeking an injunction,
which is an extraordinary and drastic remedy in and
of itself, they’re asking for what essentially would be a
mandatory injunction where the burden would need to
be even higher on them.

Let me move to the other laptop closer. Is this a
little bit clearer?

JUDGE MARCUS: It is. Thank you.
MR. LACOUR: Thank you.

& & &

[1882] that because of what she was asked to do as a
Gingles I expert, she took the 50 percent as a nonnego-
tiable threshold. And then she only bent and broke in-
sofar as was necessary not to come under 50 percent.
So, for example, I think — and I don’t have the cite
handy, but my memory is that she testified that after



App. 424

50 percent, for example, she took not splitting counties
to be of greater priority.

Why is that inconsistent with the Section 2 mis-
sion? I completely understand your argument as to
why it’s inconsistent with the idea that we ought not
be separating voters based on race for constitutional
purposes.

But in the limited universe of a Section 2 claim,
why is that hierarchy so long as it respects other tra-
ditional districting principles insofar as it can along
side the 50 percent threshold, why is it inconsistent
with Section 2?

MR. LACOUR: Because I don’t think that’s
what the Court was referring to when it said reasona-
bly compact. Again, reasonable compactness analysis
takes into account traditional districting principles.
And drawing a non-compact district to benefit a racial
group is not a traditional districting principle. If it is,
it makes their whole two Section 2 compactness argu-
ment self-referencing and really indecipherable.

They’re saying, we could draw a reasonably com-
pact map consistent with traditional districting princi-
ples if we ignore [1883] some of them in favor of race.
But that means it’s not reasonably compact. That’s
why the Supreme Court has said Section 2 does not re-
quire a state to draw based on predominantly on racial
lines a district that’s not reasonably compact. What
that necessarily means is that reasonable compactness
has to be without reference to race.
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Now, like I said, if she drew two maps consistent
with racial — consistent perfectly with traditional dis-
tricting principles, and one had two majority-minority
districts and one didn’t, it would be perfectly fine for
her to pick the one that had the two majority-minority
districts.

But what she testified to was that she drew 2,000
such maps, 2000. Not 2000. 2 million. I am sorry. I was
off by the three zeros. 2 million maps where she didn’t
even plug in all of our traditional districting principles
into the algorithm constraints. She had even more dis-
cretion than the Legislature would have had to go out
looking for majority population to put within a district.
And not one of them came back above 50 percent. I
mean, not one of them came back with two districts
above 50 percent.

And I —so I don’t know how it could be even — how
it could be any clearer that race predominated.

I mean, it’s not even a one in a million map we
have in front of us. These are maps you would never
expect to see. And I don’t see how it could be that — to
return to the text [1884] of Section 2, we are talking
about equal opportunity and whether anyone has had
equal access so political process denied them based on
account of race. I mean, is the Legislature’s failure to
completely scrap several race-neutral traditional dis-
tricting principles and bend others in favor of race,
like isn’t a refusal to do that somehow denying some-
one equal opportunity? I think the answer is obvi-
ously no.
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And you look at Abrams, again, keep in mind, I
think they hone in a lot on proportional representa-
tion. And you see it throughout. But, of course,
throughout the briefing — but, of course, Section 2 ex-
pressly says proportional representation is not the
benchmark. And we know it can’t be the benchmark
because Georgia in the ’90s had 27 percent black pop-
ulation just like Alabama today. They have 11 districts
they can work with. We only have seven.

And even then the district court said, Section 2
only gives me free reign to draw one majority-minority
district, 9 percent of the state’s black population — or 9
percent of the state’s congressional districts were ma-
jority black, even though 27 percent of the state’s black
population — or blacks made up 27 percent of the
black’s population, and the Supreme Court affirmed
that.

I think then in vote dilution itself, you heard about
vote dilution from plaintiffs. I mean, it diluted against
what? Against what standard? And proportional rep-
resentation is not [1885] the standard. It was an inter-
esting discussion with Dr. Duchin talking about
Massachusetts and the Republicans there. And be-
cause the Republican population in Massachusetts is
so evenly dispersed across the state, I mean, what she
testified to was that it is literally impossible to draw
even one majority Republican congressional district in
Massachusetts, despite the fact that there are nine
congressional districts from the state and despite the
fact that Republicans regularly register about a third,
35 percent in statewide elections.
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So proportion representation is not the right base-
line. The right baseline is what would you expect from
a race-neutral draw of the districts? And we didn’t
have time to go out and get an expert with an algo-
rithm to produce 10,000 maps. But the plaintiffs did.
And we know what came back. 30,000 maps from Dr.
Imai, none of which have two majority-black districts,
and 2 million maps from Dr. Duchin, none of which
have two majority-black districts.

So, again, unless you are going to impute race as a
traditional districting principle in the Section 2 com-
pactness analysis, which I think the Court pretty ex-
pressly rejected in Abrams when they found the three-
judge court’s decision in that case, there is no way they
can satisfy Gingles I. It’s a mathematical impossibility.

JUDGE MANASCO: Thank you. I think you
answered my question.
* * *
[1902] JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you very
much, Mr. LaCour. We will take our usual break of 15-

minute break and then come back with the rebuttals,
and we will finish up this afternoon.

Thank you all. We will be back in 15 minutes.
MR. LACOUR: Favors was the longer quote.

JUDGE MARCUS: Why don’t you give us
the full title of that case that came under the Eastern
District of New York.
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MR. LACOUR: Favors v. Cuomo, 881
F. Supp. 2d 356, 362 — or at 362. That’s Eastern Dis-
trict of New York 2012.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you much. We
will take a 15-minute break at this point.

(Recess.)

JUDGE MARCUS: The parties are ready to
begin the reply at this point? Do I have that right, Mr.
Blacksher, Ms. Khanna, and Mr. Ross?

MR. BLACKSHER: Yes.

MR. ROSS: Yes, Your Honor.

MS. KHANNA: Yes, Your Honor.
JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Thank you.

Mr. Blacksher? We will take it in the same order
that the arguments were made by the plaintiffs.

MR. ROSS: Your Honor, if I may, the Caster
plaintiffs have allowed the Milligan plaintiffs to go
next.

JUDGE MARCUS: I'm sorry. You mean the
Singleton plaintiffs.

[1903] MR. ROSS: Oh I'm sorry. I believe it
will go Singleton, Milligan, and then Caster. I'm sorry,
Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank much. Mr. Black-
sher, you may proceed.



App. 429

MR. BLACKSHER: Judge, you made -
Judge Marcus, you made a — asked an important ques-
tion.

If the Court rules for the plaintiffs, what should it
tell the Legislature to do? Because whatever this Court
tells the Legislature — what it tells the Legislature it
did wrong, and what it tells the Legislature it must do
right in the future is going to be the benchmark for re-
drawing congressional districts probably for several
more decades.

So it seems to us that the choice is between telling
the Legislature that it must draw districts by begin-
ning with a racial target, or whether it should draw
districts by beginning with traditional districting cri-
teria, we believe that if this Court were to rule for the
plaintiffs — the Milligan and Caster plaintiffs on their
Section 2 claims without addressing their Fourteenth
Amendment claims, that necessarily says to the Legis-
lature the 2021 enacted plan violated the Voting
Rights Act because it did not contain two majority-
black districts, per Bartlett vs. Strickland. Now, that’s
going to say to the Legislature that they should begin
any remedial plan with a racial target.

What the Singleton plaintiffs have proposed is
that the [1904] Court say to the Legislature the prob-
lem with your 2021 plan is that it perpetuated a gerry-
mander that violated traditional districting principles
by splitting Jefferson, Tuscaloosa, and Montgomery
counties for the purpose of reaching a racial target,
namely a black-majority district. And, therefore, you



App. 430

should begin again solely with race-neutral principles
which are historically in Alabama, whole counties, and
see what kind of plan you can draw, and then to achieve
the lowest practicable population deviation, and then
look to see whether or not it complies with Section 2 of
the Voting Rights Act.

If it does not comply Section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act by providing blacks the opportunity to elect candi-
dates of their choice that Section 2 guarantees, then
your plan must be modified however is necessary to ac-
complish that statutory objective.

So that’s critical to us. We have been interested
from the beginning in the Singleton case, our clients
are interested in trying not only to win a lawsuit for
2022, but to try to get our redistricting process back on
track. That’s something that legislators and ordinary
citizens and incumbent members of Congress can un-
derstand and apply without having to have a statisti-
cian with algorithms next to their elbow.

Let me respond to something that Mr. LaCour
said. He’s characterized the Singleton plaintiffs’ claims
as a novel Fourteenth Amendment claim. It is nothing
but novel. And let
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I certify that the foregoing is a correct transcript
from the record of proceedings in the above-entitled
matter.
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[10] PROCEEDINGS

(In open court.)

JUDGE MARCUS: Good afternoon. We set
this case down for an additional conference really as a
way to see where we are, what the status is at this
point.

If you would all be kind enough to state your ap-
pearances on the record, we would be much apprecia-
tive. For Milligan?

MR. ROSS: Deuel Ross for the Milligan
plaintiffs.

JUDGE MARCUS: Good afternoon again to
you, as well. And for Caster?

MS. KHANNA: Abha Khanna for the Caster
plaintiffs.

JUDGE MARCUS: Good afternoon to you,
as well. And Singleton.

MR. BLACKSHER: Jim Blacksher for the
Singleton plaintiffs, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: Good afternoon to you.

For the Secretary of State and for the intervening
defendants.

MR. DAVIS: Hello, Judge. Jim Davis is here.
Mr. LaCour is also on line. And Mr. Walker is here with
me for the —
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JUDGE MARCUS: Welcome to all of you, as
well.

I did also want to make clear — the clerk asked me
to double check this — that the folks we have in the
Zoom are only folks participating in the proceeding.
Otherwise, there’s [11] another link that anyone can
use, that the public can use to zero in on and fully fol-
low our proceedings today.

Having said that, I really wanted to throw out to
each of you to tell me exactly what the status of the
case is, where the Legislature is, in regard to the mem-
orandum opinion and order that we had issued on the
24th of January.

With that, I thought we would turn first to you, Mr.
Davis, on behalf of the State.

MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Judge.

As you know, we have exercised our right to ap-
peal. We have sought a stay with this Court. And if it’s
declined, we intend to seek a stay from higher courts.

As far as the Legislature is concerned, they are
looking at this issue. Discussions have begun. They are
in a special session at the moment on another im-
portant issue. But we have already started looking at
this.

That’s really, Judge, all the information that I
have at this point. How long it would take, whether
they would be successful is simply to early to say.
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JUDGE MARCUS: The reason, of course,
that we raise it, as you have all pointed out, time is
something of an issue here. We have said repeatedly,
and we made this observation in the order that we had
entered, that reapportionment is primarily the duty
and the responsibility of the State. And federal courts
are barred from intervening in state [12] apportion-
ment in the absence of a violation of federal law pre-
cisely because it is the domain of the states to conduct
apportionment in the first place. Putting it differently,
each state has a sovereign interest in implementing its
redistricting plan.

And so even when a federal court finds that a re-
districting plan violates federal law, the Supreme
Court has repeatedly said that redistricting and reap-
portioning legislative bodies is a legislative task, which
the federal courts should make every possible effort
not to preempt.

If and only if the State Legislature is unable to
adopt a remedial map that complies with federal law
in sufficient time to address the upcoming elections in
November of this year and in May for the primaries,
only then would it fall to a federal court to take on the
unwelcome obligation of devising a — and imposing a
reapportionment plan. And that’s obvious clear horn-
book law. And so we obviously look, Mr. Davis, to the
Alabama Legislature for guidance and input in this
connection.

We set some time deadlines here that we thought
were reasonable and were consistent with the ability
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to craft a new map and implement it in sufficient time
for the elections that are coming up down the road. But
that’s why we really wanted to get your best sense and
the sense of the intervening defendants, Mr. McClen-
don and Mr. Pringle, of where we are and whether we
have to start down this road because the Legislature
[13] may be unable to do it.

So it’s really for that reason that we wanted to sort
of crystalize it, bring all of this to a head, and see where
you were in that regard.

MR. DAVIS: Thank you, Judge.

Obviously, we disagree with the Court’s ruling, but
we do agree it is appropriate to give the Legislature
the first shot.

That’s what has begun. Whether they will be able
to do so or how long it will take is simply too soon to
tell.

JUDGE MARCUS: Do you have any idea
when you will be able to give us an answer to that
question?

MR. DAVIS: Certainly the Court’s order
says that Senator McClendon and Representative
Pringle should report back in two weeks. I would think
probably it will take less than that time to know
whether or not they will be able to do something. But
certainly within two weeks they will know if there’s
any chance of getting it through the Legislature.



App. 446

JUDGE MARCUS: Right. You understand
our concern is that we don’t want to be in a position
two weeks from now where we’re starting from square
one at that point, to pick a cartographer, and a num-
bers cruncher, and a special master, which might take
us to implement another two weeks, and therefore put
the whole thing off four weeks. You appreciate that di-
lemma.

MR. DAVIS: Well, I appreciate it. We think
it’s [14] already too late to put plans in —

JUDGE MARCUS: I understand.

MR. DAVIS: Yes. So we certainly appreciate
it. We understand the Court’s concern. I simply have
no further information.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Other com-
ments, either from counsel for Mr. McClendon or Mr.
Pringle?

MR. DAVIS: 1 don’t have comments, Your
Honor. There is a question that I think the Court may
be able to clear up about the order.

The order states that the January 28th qualifying
deadline is extended for 14 days. I think we know what
the Court’s intent was, that it was to extend the dead-
line for congressional candidates only, but the broad-
ness of the language is causing some confusion in the
public.

JUDGE MARCUS: Let me make that point
abundantly clear.
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This order, these hearings were concerned only
with the congressional hearings and the congressional
map. And in order to make that crystal clear, if you
think it would be helpful, we will put out a supple-
mental order to that effect making it absolutely clear
this order was only dealing with what was properly be-
fore this three-judge court, which dealt solely with the
congressional map.

MR. DAVIS: That’s certainly what we
thought, Judge. [15] And, yes, Mr. Hugh Evans, who is
general counsel for the Secretary, is with me, as well.
And he is indicating to me that that would be helpful
for the Secretary to provide proper guidance to the
party candidates.

JUDGE MARCUS: I think that’s something
we can take care of forthwith. As soon as we’re done,
we can get something out to you this day that makes
that point crystal clear.

Comments from counsel for Milligan, Caster, and
Singleton?

Mr. Ross?
MR. ROSS: Thank you, Your Honor.

Our concern is the same as the Court’s, that the —
whatever happens with the Legislature or with their
attempt at a stay, that the Court hopefully can begin
the process now of potentially looking for a special
master.
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So if the Court would like, the Milligan plaintiffs
are willing to work with the other plaintiffs’ groups,
and, if necessary, we’re happily to work with the de-
fendants as well on naming some potential special
masters for the Court.

JUDGE MARCUS: You understand in that
regard what we would need if we are put into the posi-
tion where we have to draw the map would be we
would need to select a cartographer, as well as some-
body — let’s use the infelicitous term — a numbers
cruncher, along with the special master. So our needs
would cover both a special master and someone or
some folks to do the actual tasks pursuant to whatever
specific instructions [16] we may give them.

Other thoughts, Mr. Ross?

MR.ROSS: No, Your Honor. If you would like
us to, we are happy to get with the other parties and
get some names to you in the next few days.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right.
Ms. Khanna, on behalf of the Caster plaintiffs?

MS. KHANNA: I agree with Mr. Ross, Your
Honor, that it makes sense while the Legislature is
proceeding to get our — to get — for the Court to get its
ducks in a row by identifying potential special masters,
and perhaps securing them so that we’re ready in the
event that the Legislature is unable to draw new maps
that are remedial maps.
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The Court mentioned a numbers cruncher. I know
there are several names that we can all discuss and we
can submit in writing, I think is probably more fruitful.

My understanding is many of them more experi-
enced special masters do both map drawing and map
evaluation. So they can evaluate maps to see whether
or not they’re performing for minority candidates, or
performing various metrics, as well.

So it might be that those — I am not sure what the
Court has in mind, but that special master exists in
one person, but certainly we can offer more options to
the Court.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you.
Mr. Blacksher?

[17] MR. BLACKSHER: So, Your Honor, it
may be premature for me to raise this with the Single-
ton plaintiffs or the Singleton plaintiffs to raise this,
but in the Court’s injunction you said because it’s on
statutory grounds and because Alabama’s upcoming
congressional elections will not occur on the basis of
the map that is allegedly unconstitutional, we decline
to decide the Singleton plaintiffs’ constitutional claims
at this time. And our question really is what happens
if this Court or a higher court stays the preliminary
injunction? Would that be an appropriate time we
would be concerned at that time our concerns would be
heard?

JUDGE MARCUS: Yes, I understand. And
that’s a matter that we could take up if we had to. We
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will ultimately rule, of course, on your constitutional
claims. And the claims were made on constitutional
grounds by Mr. Ross on behalf of the Milligan folks, as
well as though their theory and argumentation is a lit-
tle bit different than yours, they also challenge the
map HB-1 on constitutional grounds.

So we just followed the classic admonition that a
court ought not to decide a constitutional issue before
it has to do so. And we thought given our preliminary
injunctive ruling and memorandum opinion about Sec-
tion 2, that we were not at that stage.

And it’s not to say, Mr. Blacksher, you are not enti-
tled [18] to a ruling on that. It’s just we did not think
we ought to address that issue at this point.

Let me turn to my colleagues, Judge Manasco and
Judge Moorer, and ask them if they had any additional
questions, observations, or comments.

Judge Manasco?
JUDGE MANASCO: None from me.
JUDGE MARCUS: Judge Moorer?

I don’t think we can hear you, Judge Moorer.
JUDGE MOORER: I'm sorry. No questions.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. Well, let me
run a couple of other thoughts by you.

But one of the things that we — by “we,” I mean
Judges Moorer, Manasco, and myself — were thinking
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about if it becomes necessary for the Court to draw the
maps, of doing something like the following, and we
throw it out to you for your comments. And we welcome
your input from the State, as well as from the plain-
tiffs, about your judgment about the most efficacious
way to do this.

We would first be looking for someone or some
group to help us draw the maps. We’ve thought about
pairing together or coupling either Mr. Hinaman, who
is an experienced cartographer, along with Dr. Cooper;
or pairing up Mr. Hinaman with Dr. Duchin, but using
some combination of them to actually be the arm of
this Court to do the drafting itself.

[19] And, of course, pursuant to Rule 53 of the Fed-
eral Rules of Civil Procedure, and pursuant to the in-
herent power of this Court, we would be selecting a
special master, as well, and in addition to the folks that
we would select for the purposes of actually drawing
the maps.

The reasons we focused on the three of them, quite
candidly, was we wanted to share this with you because
we very much want your input and guidance, was in
the case of Hinaman, who is a very experienced cartog-
rapher. He has been at it, and he’s done this map three
times, going back to ‘92, again in 2011, and in 2021.
And in the cases of Dr. Duchin and Mr. Cooper, this
Court was satisfied and found that they were exceed-
ingly qualified in their relevant fields. And so we
thought that it might make sense to pair them in the
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process and use them as an arm of this Court for that
task.

And this is just preliminary thinking on our part.
But we candidly wanted to think out loud with you, Mr.
Davis and Mr. Walker, and with you, Mr. Ross, Mr.
Blacksher, and Ms. Khanna, to get your comments
about it.

You may want to think about it. You may not want
to comment now, but which we will happily give you.

But what are your thoughts? Mr. Davis, any com-
ments?

MR. DAVIS: Not at this time, Judge. I think
I will take you up on your offer to let us confer among
ourselves and perhaps with Mr. Hinaman before I
share any thoughts with the [20] Court. I think I need
to discuss that with my colleagues.

JUDGE MARCUS: Sure.
Mr. Ross?

MR. ROSS: Your Honor, I think we have
some concerns. I think we would propose an alterna-
tive whereby perhaps the Court could set some dates
or deadlines by which our experts could propose alter-
native maps.

So whether, you know, Dr. Duchin could propose
some maps that are different than the illustrative
maps that she proposed that perhaps do things like
protect incumbents, or other issues that, you know, the
Court identifies, or the defendants identify. And then
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the Court would have an opportunity — we would have
some guidance from the Court on what they would like
to see. And she could produce some maps for the Court
and she could give testimony.

JUDGE MARCUS: Let me just make two
observations for you in that regard.

First observation: The Legislature, to the extent it
draws this map, is perfectly free to consider the issue
of incumbency. The law certainly allows for that.

Our concern is that Section 2 of the Voting Rights
Act be complied with. But it seems from the evidence
that was presented to us — I say this pointed you to you,
Mr. Davis — that a map could be drawn conceivably
that respects incumbents in whole or in part. How
much, how well, how easy is the [21] question for an-
other time. But we do make that observation.

If the Court is called upon to draft the maps, we
might not give the same emphasis or priority to that
consideration, although it is fairly a consideration
among a host of them, including compactness, contigu-
ity, respecting political boundaries, divisions, counties,
cities, municipalities, precincts, the doctrine of one per-
son one vote, the consideration surrounding the Voting
Rights Act itself. It’s something that may properly be
considered, is all I'm really saying. And the state Leg-
islature can do that conceivably in drawing a map, so
long as it complies with the core holding regarding the
requirements of Section 2 of the Voting Rights Act.
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But I wanted, second, Mr. Ross, to just probe a lit-
tle bit more, if you are comfortable sort of giving me
your sort of initial reaction to what we were suggest-
ing. I sense that you have a concern.

Is there something that you can at least prelimi-
narily express to me? Is it a concern that we have con-
sidered actually teaming up the State Legislature’s
cartographer with either Dr. Duchin or Mr. Cooper?

MR. ROSS: I think we have —

JUDGE MARCUS: You think that’s un-
workable or a bad idea for some reason? And I only see
it because it struck us at least initially that there was
a lot of soundness to [22] considering it doing it — doing
it in that way, given the experience that each of the
players brings to the underlying task.

So I just wanted to ask you a little bit further, if
you are comfortable giving me some preliminary sense,
and Judge Manasco, Judge Moorer, your preliminary
thoughts on that matter.

MR. ROSS: Thank you, Judge Marcus.

I think my preliminary concern — and my col-
leagues share it — is that there — a concern about po-
tential privilege issues, since they are our expert and
this is a preliminary injunction hearing, that we may
not want them having conversations about the case
with other parties. And so that is what comes off the
top of my head. There may be ways around it, but that’s
my initial concern.
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And my other thought is that, you know, the way
that this has sometimes worked in other cases is that
the Court will have its own special master, the parties
will have the experts that they may use, and the Court
could provide a list of criteria that the Court considers
important.

I listed incumbents just because it was a thing
that came off the top of my head. But there are many
other factors the Court can say these should be priori-
tized, these should not be, and then the parties could
offer maps that the Court’s special master could con-
sider on its own or not.

[23] So, again, I don’t think I'm saying no, but I
think that was the initial concerns.

JUDGE MARCUS: I understand. Let me
make one observation for you that just sort of comes
off the top of my head as I think about what you have
said.

If we were to basically make as an arm of the
Court Duchin and Hinaman, or Cooper and Hinaman,
they would be working for us at that point, not you. We
would certainly not invade any prior discussion or con-
versation that you may have had with them.

Beyond all of that, we will, regardless of who is se-
lected if — and I underscore if we are required to step
down that road — we will issue an order laying out the
guidelines here. They will be very specific, very direct,
and it will tell the special master and the map drawers
what it is that we believe their task must accomplish
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and what considerations they must take into account.
But I just wanted to share that with you.

Ms. Khanna, thoughts?
MS. KHANNA: Yes, Your Honor.

I really appreciate the Court’s consideration of
this issue, because I think these are all great map
drawers. I do share Mr. Ross’s concern.

And I think it’s not that we feel like we would —
that our experts would disclose anything, or that the
Court would ask them to disclose anything of our given
privilege.

[24] I think I just — again, thinking about it with-
out having really analyzed the issued or not, I have not
been presented with this before, I would be a little wor-
ried about relinquishing our experts who we rely on for
map drawing and evaluation to the Court, if we can’t
otherwise get them back as the case proceeds or as the
remedy process proceeds.

I also think that for all intents and purposes, all
three of the map-drawing experts that you mentioned
will be participating in the remedy process. I have — I
presume Mr. Hinaman will be working with the Legis-
lature to draw any remedy map that they’re able to
propose. As Mr. Ross said, our experts can propose ad-
ditional maps, in addition to their illustrative plans to
— if there’s any particular court guidelines that are set
forth that they need to adhere to.
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We will — those three experts I have to assume will
be opining on other parties’ maps and what they have
proposed.

So I think the Court will still have the benefit of
their map-drawing expertise and analysis of the vari-
ous factors even if it doesn’t necessarily create — sug-
gest that they are, in fact, becoming an arm of the
Court.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Davis, what are your
thoughts?

MR. DAVIS: Nothing further. As I said,
Judge, I would like to discuss it with my colleagues.

JUDGE MARCUS: So you are not quite
ready to throw cold water on the idea we threw out.

[25] MR. DAVIS: I am not. I haven’t had a
chance to discuss it.

JUDGE MARCUS: I appreciate that.
Mr. Blacksher?

MR. BLACKSHER: We’re the only parties
with no expert demographer at our sides.

And I would only say that Randy Hinaman and
Bill Cooper know more about Alabama than any other
map drawers alive. And not just the boundaries, but
the internal workings of the state, the culture and the
politics.
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But — and that’s all I have to say. And I think Bill
Cooper is the best map drawer in the U.S., so that’s
what I think.

JUDGE MARCUS: It just occurred to us,
counsel, that one way that this could be done with
great dispatch would be to team that group up in some,
you know, in some combination, or formation.

Any other comments, Judge Manasco, or Judge
Moorer, on this issue?

JUDGE MANASCO: I think - all that I
would add is, having heard the concerns about privi-
lege, you know, I would invite the parties to think cre-
atively about a way to facilitate an opportunity for
collaboration between those three individuals that
could unfold in a manner that respects the privilege,
but does not forego the potentially, you know, the [26]
sort of synergistic effect and the potential efficiency of
having them collaborate in a way that is not adversar-
ial, where we see a proposal from one, a proposal from
another, or a proposal from another, or something in
that manner.

I mean, to sort of use the shorthand to the extent
that we can get the, you know, some combination of
them in the same room at the same time to think about
these issues that could be — if — and I hope we are not
required to, but if we are required to step down this
path, that that could be an efficient way to begin.

So if, you know, the Court’s initial idea is imper-
fect, I would invite the parties to collaborate about a
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way to sort of achieve a similar result in a manner that
would be more consistent with concerns about the priv-
ilege.

JUDGE MARCUS: Judge Moorer, any ques-
tions or comments in connection with any of this?

JUDGE MOORER: Mr. Davis, this is more
for you.

I appreciate the fact that you have got clients that
you have got to get with, and you’ve got your colleagues
on the defense team to interact with.

But, ultimately, I hope that you carry the message
to your side that this process is going to go forward,
and it will be done.

The Legislature, of course, has not only incum-
bency to play out, but they have other competing polit-
ical interests [27] that are valid to play out in a
political scene, such as the passage of a reapportion-
ment map.

And I hope that you will convey to your clients that
if they don’t engage in that process, how much they
would be losing that is of value to the entire process.
And encourage you to encourage your clients to essen-
tially do what is the Legislature’s responsibility.

But I would also ask that you convey to them just
as strongly that it is going to be done in such a way
that the ultimate end goal — the elections that must
occur — can occur in an orderly fashion.
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MR. DAVIS: Your Honor, I don’t quite know
what to say. We take very seriously our role as officers
of the Court and as attorneys for —

JUDGE MOORER: I know you do. I am try-
ing to give you the imprimatur of the Court that you
can pass along to your client —

MR. DAVIS: I want to assure —

JUDGE MOORER: - to encourage them. I
am sure that you as an officer of the Court are trying
to encourage your clients to act quickly. But ultimately
it’s got to be done, this map process, and it will be done.

MR. DAVIS: Well, thank you, Judge. Every-
thing the Court says and everything the Court orders,
we carry that to our client and make sure that we do
our best to advise them of [28] their legal obligations.

JUDGE MOORER: Yes.

JUDGE MARCUS: 1 think the only point
here that’s being made, Mr. Davis — and we made this
point in the original order that we entered — if and only
if the State Legislature is unable to adopt a remedial
map that complies with the requirements of Section 2,
it would fall then to the courts to address that.

I repeat to you words that I've read and said to
myself many times in an opinion entered by Justice
White many, many years ago.

He said, and I quote him, That legislative bodies
should not leave their reapportionment tasks to the
federal courts; but when those with legislative
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responsibilities do not respond, or the imminence of an
election makes it impractical for them to do so, it be-
comes the unwelcome obligation of the federal courts
to devise and impose a reapportionment plan pending
later legislative action.

And it makes the point that this is quintessen-
tially a legislative task. And we recognize that and un-
derscore that. But if we have to do this, there should
be no misunderstanding that we will do what our obli-
gation requires us to do. We're saying no more and no
less, putting great faith, I should say, in Alabama’s
Legislature to do this.

Any other thoughts or comments about this or sta-
tus? Any [29] other issues anybody wanted to raise?

We have, of course, in front of us pending the ap-
plication for stay, Mr. LaCour, that you submitted, and
we have had a chance to study that at some length, I
guess since yesterday, and the response that we re-
ceived from the Milligan and Caster folks. And we will
rule on that shortly, promptly.

But if there’s anything you wanted to add with re-
spect to that, we're more than happy to give you a
chance to do that, as well.

MR. LACOUR: Nothing more to add, Your
Honor, other than we do, as we asked for in the motion,
we do respectfully ask the Court to rule quickly based
on what we have heard today. It sounds like we’ve got
an inclination of how the Court’s going to rule. And if
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the Court does deny, we do intend to seek a stay on ap-
peal as quickly as possible.

JUDGE MARCUS: Sure. I understand that.
Mr. Ross, Ms. Khanna, anything further on that issue?

MR. ROSS: Not on the stay, Your Honor. But
I did want just to on your earlier point propose some-
thing. And again we will have perhaps some time to
think about it.

But if there were an opportunity for a court-or-
dered mediation, that may address some of our con-
cerns and allow our experts to talk to the State’s map
drawers.

JUDGE MARCUS: Explain that. Sort of
spin that out to me. The reason I raised it is normally
when we use mediation, [30] let’s say we have a group
of mediators on the U.S. Court of Appeals that we use.
When we send a case to a mediator, basically, our in-
volvement ends insofar as we dictate nothing to the
lawyer, the parties, or the mediator. If he and they are
able to work a solution, that’s fine. If they aren’t, so be
it, and it goes on for oral argument.

And on a district court, much the same way. If a
district court sends a case out for mediation, generally
it will leave it to the parties to see what they can do.

The problem that strikes me initially with media-
tion is that I don’t think that it helps us, in terms of
the issues of timing that we, you know, that we other-
wise face.
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What I would like to do at this point, if you can
bear with us, is just to take a short break for a few
minutes to give me a chance to counsel with my col-
leagues, and you can give some further thought to
some of the things we’ve discussed, as well.

It is by my clock 1:36 Central Standard Time. I
thought we would bring you back here at 2:00 o’clock
Central Standard Time, which would be 3:00 Eastern
Standard Time.

Is that okay with you folks? Can you stick around
with us for another 20 minutes or half hour?

MR. DAVIS: Yes, Your Honor.
MR. BLACKSHER: Yes, Your Honor.

MS. KHANNA: Yes, Your Honor. If I may
just piggyback [31] off of something Mr. Ross said as
everybody goes back to consider various options.

It’s possible just in response to Judge Manasco’s
idea of thinking creatively here, how we can get these
experts in a room, in the event that the Legislature is
not able to act in the two weeks allotted, it is possible
for the Court to proceed to appoint a special master
well before that so that the structure is in place, but
then at that point we can basically have a settlement
conference among the parties. Not necessarily waiving
whatever arguments people have on appeal on the lia-
bility point, but a settlement remedial conference
where the lawyers and the map drawers are able to be
in a room without relinquishing our experts, but being
able to utilize our experts, and seeing if there is a joint
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proposal that they’re able to come up with for the
Court’s consideration and perhaps special master’s
consideration.

If there’s not, we end up where we were otherwise,
which is people presenting various competing maps.
But that might be an option.

JUDGE MARCUS: What she’s suggesting,
Mr. Ross, Mr. Davis, Mr. Blacksher, Mr. Walker, is put
them in a room with a special master; that is to say,
either Cooper and Hinaman, or Duchin and Hinaman,
or all three of them. We would have to think about that
— with a special master and see what comes of that de-
liberation and that discussion.

[32] Do I have the thrust of that right, Ms.
Khanna?

MS. KHANNA: Yes. Except I guess I guess
I'm offering like a settlement conference. The attor-
neys would also be there — the special master may or
may not be in the room, but it would really be a discus-
sion among the parties. And I would say the three par-
ties here to sit down and see if there is a joint
resolution we can all agree on — “we” being the lawyers
and the map drawers — that we can provide for the
Court’s approval, just like any settlement conference,
where the lawyers would meet up and see if their cli-
ents could come to some agreement.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Davis, what do you
think about that?
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MR. DAVIS: I'm not sure I understand Ms.
Khanna’s proposal. If she’s discussing that we could
actually try to resolve this claim, I don’t think that’s
realistic, given our views of the governing law.

But I will think about it as to whether that struc-
ture might facilitate a remedial map in a way that
would allow us to reserve all of our defenses.

JUDGE MARCUS: I understand.

Let’s — Mr. Ross, anything else you wanted to say
with regard to Ms. Khanna’s observation?

MR. ROSS: No, Your Honor. Just that she’s
described sort of what we were thinking, as well.
Thank you.

[33] JUDGE MARCUS: Let’s do this, folks. I
have 1:39. We will reconvene here at about 2:00 o’clock.
And it will give you a chance to do some more thinking
about it.

I understand, Mr. Davis, you have got to go back
and speak to your clients and your principals, and I
know Mr. Walker has to do that, as well, as do Mr. Ross,
Ms. Khanna, and Mr. Blacksher.

We will take a break for about 20 minutes and
then we will come back.

Thank you all.

(Recess.)
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JUDGE MARCUS: Before we go forward
any further, were there any additional comments or
thoughts that anyone wanted to share with us?

Mr. Davis?
MR. DAVIS: Not from us, Judge. Thank you.
JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Ross?

MR. ROSS: Your Honor, only thought is that
since the Court — when the Court rules on the stay, we
would just ask as soon as possible — and I know the
Court is obviously working on it — that there be a writ-
ten opinion, given that the defendants are intending to
seek a stay in this.

Thank you, Your Honor.

JUDGE MARCUS: We will give you a writ-
ten order on the stay probably no later than tomorrow.

[34] Ms. Khanna?
MS. KHANNA: Nothing further right now.
JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Blacksher?

MR. BLACKSHER: Nothing further, Your
Honor. Thank you.

JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Davis, we have a
question for you, my colleagues and I.

Ms. Khanna had raised the question or concern
about privilege with regard to either Duchin or
Cooper. If the Court decided to use Hinaman as our
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cartographer — “our” being this three-judge court —
would you have an objection to that?

MR. DAVIS: dJudge, again, that’s something
I would have to think about.

JUDGE MARCUS: I understand.

MR. DAVIS: Yeah. And that’s something I
would have to discuss not just with my co-counsel, but
with our principals, as well.

JUDGE MARCUS: I understand fully. But I
would like you to think about it, and Ms. Khanna, and
Mr. Ross, and Mr. Blacksher, we’d like you also to think
about the possibility of the following scenario.

We retain the services of Mr. Hinaman; by that, I
mean this three-judge court. Of course, we’re ahead of
ourselves with all of this, because all of this assumes
that the State’s legislative body is unable to perform
this sovereign task of [35] drawing a map, and we have
given you our view on the importance of that.

But assuming arguendo that it falls to us to do
this, the scenario I'm throwing out to you is that we
make Hinaman an arm of the Court. We are not inter-
ested in his past discussions with you, Mr. Davis, or
any of your predecessors. But we hire him as the
Court’s cartographer.

And subject to the supervision of a special master
that we will pick, and pursuant to an express order
that we will enter laying out exactly what the mission
will be, what the considerations are that have to be
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taken into account, and with the additional require-
ment that he must consult with Duchin and Cooper, or
Cooper and Duchin, to the extent plaintiffs’ counsel
agree to allow that, and otherwise properly respect any
privilege that may otherwise obtain. They may choose
not to make Cooper and Duchin available at all.

But I am throwing out the scenario that we direct
Mr. Hinaman, if we retain his services, to consult with
him specifically in connection with this task pursuant
to the orders we will enter and have entered, and pur-
suant to the supervision and involvement of a special
master.

I want you to think about that. Does that work for
you? Does that work for you, Ms. Khanna? Does that
work for you, Mr. Ross? And enable you to ensure that
you can protect any issue of privilege and it avoids the
Court co-opting Duchin and [36] Cooper and making
them an arm of the Court so they’re not otherwise
available to you.

I am thinking aloud. Maybe this is doable. Maybe
it isn’t. And maybe we will just pick a cartographer of
our own choice and say thank you all very much, and
move on from there.

But this strikes us as worth consideration. And it
may be that there are ample ways to protect any priv-
ilege, Mr. Davis, that you may be concerned about, and
any privilege, Mr. Ross, Ms. Khanna, and Mr. Black-
sher, that you may be concerned about.
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Does any of this make any sense to you? And I —
by me asking the question, I don’t mean that I need or
expect an answer this minute. If you have any other
thoughts, we're happy to hear them.

But what we are going to do is we’re going to direct
counsel for all of the parties — for the Secretary of
State, for the intervening defendants, for the Caster
people, for the Milligan people, and for the Singleton
people — to sit down between now and Friday, discuss
amongst yourselves whether there is a way to accom-
plish what it is we’re suggesting. What’s more, to come
back by Friday 10:00 a.m. with a report telling us the
following: First, any recommendations you may have
for us to consider of a special master. We will pick a
special master, and we will pick a special master pur-
suant not only to our authority under Rule 53 of the
federal rules, but also pursuant to the inherent power
of the Court, but we want [37] your guidance, your in-
put, your help in that process.

So tell us whom you would suggest we consider for
the task of being the special master; and, two, tell us
what you think about the idea of Hinaman drawing the
map with the requirement that he must sit down with
Cooper and Duchin — we only frame it that way, Ms.
Khanna, to answer the concern, which is a fair one that
you raise, but to make sure that they have real input
into this process under the supervision of a special
master, and with you working out any problem about
making sure that you keep inviolable the privilege of
any conversations you may have had with any or all of
them.
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So we would ask you to let us know in a written
report hopefully a joint report Friday 10:00 a.m. both
on special master, cartographer, and the specific sug-
gestion that has come out of our dialogue today.

And, finally, we will ask you to come on back 3:00
p.m. Central Standard Time on Friday, and we can
take up the discussion at that point.

In addition, as I said, we will put out an order ad-
dressing the motion for a stay very shortly. And we will,
Mr. Davis, also be putting out an order hopefully that
makes it crystal clear that the order we entered re-
ferred to and only referred to the map that was drawn,
with regard to the seven districts in the congressional
elections — nothing more, nothing less. It has nothing
to do with the issue the state [38] seeks, which is before
another three-judge court, and which has been stayed
with the concurrence of all of the counsel.

Any questions about anything I have said, Mr.
Davis?

MR. DAVIS: No, Judge. Thank you. We un-
derstand what Your Honor’s given us to consider.

JUDGE MARCUS: Ms. Khanna?

MS. KHANNA: No, Your Honor.
JUDGE MARCUS: Mr. Ross?

MR. ROSS: No, Your Honor. Thank you.

JUDGE MARCUS: All right. And Mr.
Blacksher?
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MR. BLACKSHER: I'm here. Yes, sir. Thank
you.

JUDGE MARCUS: Thank you all very much
for your participation and your help.

Was there something more you want to raise, Mr.
LaCour or Mr. Davis?

MR. LACOUR: Would the Court be willing
to consider issuing an oral — an oral order on our stay
motion at this time, and then follow up with a written
opinion —

JUDGE MARCUS: No.

MR. LACOUR: - when the Court has time
do that?

JUDGE MARCUS: No. We're still ruminat-
ing. And we want the opportunity to fully consider and
put it out in a written report. But you will not have to
wait long. We will do everything we can to give you an
answer promptly.

MR. LACOUR: All right. Thank you.

[39] JUDGE MARCUS: With that, I thank
you for your request. I appreciate it.

We thank all of you. And we will see you back here
3:00 p.m. Central Standard Time on Friday. This Court
is adjourned.

(Whereupon, the above proceedings were con-
cluded at 2:18 p.m.)
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